OPEN TEXT CORP Form S-3ASR April 24, 2014 Table of Contents

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 24, 2014.

Registration No. 333-

# **UNITED STATES**

### SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form S-3

REGISTRATION STATEMENT

**UNDER** 

THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

### **OPEN TEXT CORPORATION**

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Canada (State or other jurisdiction of

98-0154400 (I.R.S. Employer

incorporation or organization)

**Identification No.)** 

# 275 Frank Tompa Drive

## Waterloo, Ontario, Canada N2L0A1

(519) 888-7111

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant s principal executive offices)

# Open Text Inc.

# **The Pyramid Center**

600 Montgomery Street, Suite 1800

San Francisco, California 94111

(415) 500-9600

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

# Copies to:

Gordon A. Davies, Esq.	Craig B. Brod, Esq.	Chris Hewat, Esq.
Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary	Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP	Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP
·		199 Bay Street, Suite 4000
<b>Open Text Corporation</b>	One Liberty Plaza	• ,
-	•	Toronto, Ontario M5L 1A9
275 Frank Tompa Drive	New York, New York 10006	
		(416) 863-2400
Waterloo, Ontario, Canada N2L 0A1	(212) 225-2000	
(519) 888-7111		

Richard J. Sandler, Esq.

Patrice S. Walch-Watson, Esq.

John B. Meade, Esq.

Glen R. Johnson, Esq.

Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP

**Torys LLP** 

**450 Lexington Avenue** 

79 Wellington Street West, 30th Floor

New York, New York 10017

**Box 270, TD South Tower** 

(212) 450-0000

Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5K 1N2

(416) 865-0040

**Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public**: From time to time after the effective date of this Registration Statement.

If the only securities being registered on this Form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, please check the following box.

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, other than securities offered only in connection with dividend or interest reinvestment plans, check the following box. x

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. "

If this Form is a registration statement pursuant to General Instruction I.D. or a post-effective amendment thereto that shall become effective upon filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check the following box. x

If this Form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction I.D. filed to register additional securities or additional classes of securities pursuant to Rule 413(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer, accelerated filer, and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Accelerated filer Large accelerated filer x

Non-accelerated filer " (Do not check if smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company "

### CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Amount to be registered/ **Proposed maximum** 

Title of each class of

offering price per unit/ **Proposed maximum** aggregate offering price(1) registration fee(2)

**Amount of** 

securities to be registered

Common Shares, no par value(3)(4)(5)

Preference Shares, no par value(3)

Debt Securities(3)

Depositary shares(3)

Warrants(3)

Purchase Contracts(3)

Units(3)

Subscription Receipts(3)

- (1) An indeterminate aggregate initial offering price and number or amount of the securities is being registered as may periodically be offered at indeterminate prices.
- (2) In accordance with Rules 456(b) and 457(r) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the registrant is deferring payment of the entire registration fee.
- (3) Separate consideration may or may not be received for securities that are issuable on exercise, conversion or exchange of other securities.
- (4) An indeterminate number of shares of common shares may be issued from time to time upon exercise, conversion or exchange of other securities.
- (5) Including rights to acquire Common Shares pursuant to Open Text Corporation s shareholder rights plan.

### **EXPLANATORY NOTE**

This registration statement contains two forms of prospectus: one to be used in connection with offerings of the securities described herein in the United States, which we refer to as the U.S. Prospectus, and one to be used in connection with offerings of such securities in Canada, which we refer to as the Canadian Prospectus. The U.S. Prospectus and the Canadian Prospectus are substantially identical, except for the cover page and the table of contents, and except that the Canadian Prospectus includes certain disclosure required by Canadian securities laws and a Certificate of the Company. The U.S. Prospectus is included herein and is followed by the alternate and additional pages to be used in the Canadian Prospectus. Each alternate page for the Canadian Prospectus included herein is labeled Additional Page for Canadian Prospectus.

# PROSPECTUS

<u> rkosi ze res</u>
Common Shares
Preference Shares
Debt Securities
Depositary Shares
Warrants
Purchase Contracts
Units
Subscription Receipts
The following are types of securities that we may offer, issue and sell from time to time, or that may be sold by selling securityholders from time to time, together or separately:
common shares;
preference shares;
debt securities;
depositary shares;
warrants;
purchase contracts;

units; and

subscription receipts.

Any of these securities may be offered together or separately and in one or more series, if any, in amounts, at prices and on other terms to be determined at the time of the offering and described in an accompanying prospectus supplement. This prospectus describes some of the general terms that may apply to these securities and the specific manner in which the securities will be offered. We, or any selling securityholders, will provide you with the specific terms of the particular securities being offered in supplements to this prospectus. In the case of an offering by a selling securityholder, the applicable prospectus supplement will include the identity of, and specific information required with respect to, any selling securityholder. Any prospectus supplement may also add, update or change information contained in this prospectus. You should read this prospectus and each related prospectus supplement carefully before you invest. This prospectus may not be used to sell securities unless accompanied by a prospectus supplement.

We, or any selling securityholders, may offer and sell these securities through one or more underwriters, dealers or agents, through underwriting syndicates managed or co-managed by one or more underwriters, or directly to purchasers, on a continuous or delayed basis. The prospectus supplement for each offering of securities will describe in detail the plan of distribution for that offering.

Unless otherwise stated in a prospectus supplement, none of these securities other than our common shares will be listed on any securities exchange. Our common shares are traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol OTEX and on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) under the symbol OTC.

Investing in the offered securities involves risks. You should read the section entitled Risk Factors on page 3 and carefully consider the discussion of risks and uncertainties under the heading Risk Factors contained in any applicable prospectus supplement and in the documents that are incorporated by reference.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this prospectus or any applicable prospectus supplement. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

Prospectus dated April 24, 2014

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Notice to United States Investors	1
About This Prospectus	1
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements	1
Open Text Corporation	3
Risk Factors	3
<u>Use of Proceeds</u>	3
Ratio of Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preference Dividends	4
Supplemental Canadian Disclosure	5
Description of Securities	8
Description of Common Shares	8
Description of Preference Shares	9
Description of Debt Securities	10
Description of Depositary Shares	21
Description of Warrants	22
Description of Purchase Contracts	23
Description of Units	23
Description of Subscription Receipts	23
Plan of Distribution	25
Service of Process and Enforceability of Civil Liabilities	27
Validity of the Securities	27
<u>Experts</u>	27
Auditors, Transfer Agent and Registrar	27
Where You Can Find More Information	28
Documents Incorporated by Reference	29

We and any selling securityholders are responsible for the information contained and incorporated by reference in this prospectus, any prospectus supplement and any free writing prospectus prepared by us or on behalf of us. Neither we nor any selling securityholders have authorized anyone to give you any other information, and we or any selling securityholders take no responsibility for any other information that others may give you. We and any selling securityholders are not making an offer to sell these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. You should not assume that the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus or any prospectus supplement is accurate as of any date other than the date of the document containing the information.

### NOTICE TO UNITED STATES INVESTORS

This prospectus is part of a registration statement that we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC ), utilizing an automatic shelf registration process. Under this shelf process, we or any selling securityholders may periodically sell any combination of the securities described in this prospectus in one or more offerings. This prospectus provides a general description of our common shares, preference shares, debt securities, depositary shares, warrants, purchase contracts, units and subscription receipts that we or any selling securityholders may offer. Each time we or any selling securityholders offer securities, we or any selling securityholders will provide a prospectus supplement that will contain specific information about the terms of that offering. The prospectus supplement may also add, update or change information, including information about us, contained in this prospectus. Therefore, before making your investment decision, you should carefully read both this prospectus and any prospectus supplement together with the documents referred to in Where You Can Find More Information.

### **ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS**

All references in this prospectus to OpenText, the Company, we, us or our refer to Open Text Corporation and, context requires otherwise, its subsidiaries.

When we use the term securities, we are referring to any of our common shares, preference shares, debt securities, depositary shares, warrants, purchase contracts, units or subscription receipts, each as may be offered by this prospectus and the accompanying prospectus supplement.

Except as noted, all amounts are expressed in U.S. Dollars. All references to U.S.\$ or \$ are to U.S. Dollars and all references to Cdn.\$ are to Canadian Dollars.

### NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus, any prospectus supplement and the documents incorporated by reference contain forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, and created under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act ), and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act ), the Securities Act (Ontario) and Canadian securities legislation in each of the provinces in which this prospectus is filed. All statements other than statements of historical facts are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements. We have based those forward-looking statements on our current expectations and projections about future results. When we use words such as anticipates, seeks, expects, intends, plans, believes, estimates. may, could. would and variation similar expressions, we do so to identify forward-looking statements. In addition, any information or statements that refer to expectations, beliefs, plans, projections, objectives, performance or other characterizations of future events or circumstances, including any underlying assumptions, are forward-looking, and based on our current expectations, forecasts and projections about the operating environment, economies and markets in which we operate. Forward-looking statements reflect our current estimates, beliefs and assumptions, which are based on management s perception of historic trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors it believes are appropriate in the circumstances, such as certain assumptions about the economy, as well as market, financial and operational assumptions. Management s estimates, beliefs and assumptions are inherently subject to significant business, economic, competitive and other uncertainties and contingencies regarding future events and, as such, are subject to change. We can give no assurance that such estimates, beliefs and assumptions will prove to be correct. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors and assumptions that may cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially. Such factors include, but are not limited to: (i) the future performance, financial and otherwise, of OpenText; (ii) the ability of OpenText to bring

1

new products and services to market and to increase sales; (iii) the strength of the Company s product development pipeline; (iv) the Company s growth and profitability prospects; (v) the estimated size and growth prospects of the enterprise information management ( EIM ) market; (vi) the Company s competitive position in the EIM market and its ability to take advantage of future opportunities in this market; (vii) the benefits of the Company s products and services to be realized by customers; (viii) the demand for the Company s products and services and the extent of deployment of the Company s products and services in the EIM marketplace; (ix) the Company s financial condition and capital requirements; and (x) the intended use of net proceeds of offerings of securities pursuant to this prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement. The risks and uncertainties that may affect forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to: (i) integration of acquisitions and related restructuring efforts (such as those related to our acquisition of GXS Group, Inc.), including the quantum of restructuring charges and the timing thereof; (ii) the possibility that the Company may be unable to meet its future reporting requirements under the Exchange Act and the rules promulgated thereunder; (iii) the risks associated with bringing new products and services to market; (iv) fluctuations in currency exchange rates; (v) delays in the purchasing decisions of the Company s customers; (vi) the competition the Company faces in its industry and/or marketplace; (vii) the final determination of litigation, tax audits and other legal proceedings; (viii) the possibility of technical, logistical or planning issues in connection with the deployment of the Company s products or services; (ix) the continuous commitment of the Company s customers; and (x) demand for the Company s products and services.

You should keep in mind that any forward-looking statement we make in this prospectus, any prospectus supplement, the documents incorporated by reference or elsewhere, speaks only as of the date on which we make it. New risks and uncertainties arise from time to time, and it is impossible for us to predict these events or how they may affect us. In any event, these and other important factors, including those set forth under the heading Risk Factors in any applicable prospectus supplement and the documents incorporated by reference, may cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated by our forward-looking statements. We have no duty, and do not intend, to update or revise the forward-looking statements we make in this prospectus, any prospectus supplement, the documents incorporated by reference or elsewhere, except as may be required by law. In light of these risks and uncertainties, you should keep in mind that the future events or circumstances described in any forward-looking statement we make in this prospectus, any prospectus supplement, the documents incorporated by reference or elsewhere, might not occur.

2

### **OPEN TEXT CORPORATION**

We are an independent company providing a comprehensive suite of software products and services that assist organizations in finding, utilizing, and sharing business information from any device in ways which are intuitive, efficient and productive. Our technologies and business solutions address one of the biggest problems encountered by enterprises today, which is the explosive growth of information in terms of volume and formats. Our software allows organizations to manage the information that flows into, out of, and throughout the enterprise as part of daily operations. Our product and service offerings provide solutions which help to increase customer satisfaction, improve collaboration with partners, address the legal and business requirements associated with information governance, and ensure the security and privacy of information demanded in today s highly regulated climate. In addition, our products and services provide the benefit of organizing and managing business content, while leveraging it to operate more efficiently and effectively. OpenText products incorporate social and mobile technologies and are delivered for on-premises deployment as well as through cloud and managed hosted services models to provide the flexibility and cost efficiencies demanded by the market.

Open Text Corporation was incorporated on June 26, 1991. Our principal office is at 275 Frank Tompa Drive, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada N2L 0A1, and our telephone number at that location is (519) 888-7111. Our website is www.opentext.com. Our website is included in this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement as an inactive textual reference only. Except for the documents specifically incorporated by reference into this prospectus, information contained on our website is not incorporated by reference into this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement and should not be considered to be a part of this prospectus or any applicable prospectus supplement.

### **RISK FACTORS**

Investing in our securities involves risks. Before deciding to invest in our securities, you should carefully consider the discussion of risks and uncertainties under the heading Risk Factors contained in any applicable prospectus supplement and in the documents that are incorporated by reference. See the sections entitled Where You Can Find More Information on page 28 and Documents Incorporated by Reference on page 29.

### **USE OF PROCEEDS**

Except as otherwise set forth in a prospectus supplement, we intend to use the net proceeds from any sale by us of the securities described in this prospectus for our general corporate purposes. The net proceeds may be invested temporarily in short-term marketable securities or applied to repay short-term debt until they are used for their stated purpose.

While we currently anticipate that we will use the net proceeds from any sale of the securities described in this prospectus as set forth above, we may reallocate the net proceeds from time to time based on our strategy relative to the market and other conditions in effect at the time.

Unless otherwise set forth in a prospectus supplement, we will not receive any proceeds in the event that the securities are sold by a selling securityholder.

Table of Contents 12

3

## RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERENCE DIVIDENDS

The following table sets forth the ratio of earnings to fixed charges and the ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preference dividends for the indicated periods:

	<b>Nine Months</b>					
	Ended					
	March 31,		Fiscal Ye	ar Ended ,	June 30,	
	2014	2013	2012	2011	2010	2009
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges <sup>(1)</sup>	11.41x	11.49x	9.82x	17.11x	11.36x	7.88x
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges						
and preference dividends <sup>(2)</sup>	11.41x	11.49x	9.82x	17.11x	11.36x	7.88x

- (1) For the purpose of these calculations, earnings is the amount resulting from adding together earnings before taxes, fixed charges, and losses attributable to non-controlling interests. Fixed charges includes interest expensed, capitalized and capitalized expenses related to indebtedness.
- (2) There were no preference shares outstanding for the indicated periods. Accordingly, the ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preference dividends was identical to the ratio of earnings to fixed charges for each period.

4

## SUPPLEMENTAL CANADIAN DISCLOSURE

The following information under Prior Sales, Trading Price and Volume and Consolidated Capitalization is included solely for the purposes of complying with the requirements of applicable securities laws in each of the provinces of Canada in which this prospectus is filed.

### **Prior Sales**

During the 12-month period before the date of this prospectus, we have issued common shares as follows:

	Price		Number	
	per		of	
	Common		Common	
Date of Issue/Grant	Sl	hare <sup>(1)</sup>	Shares <sup>(1)</sup>	
March 19, 2014	\$	$49.42^{(2)}$	2,500	
March 17, 2014	\$	$48.75^{(2)}$	1,084	
March 13, 2014	\$	$48.13^{(2)}$	10,000	
March 13, 2014	\$	$48.20^{(2)}$	10,000	
March 10, 2014	\$	$49.61^{(2)}$	44,600	
March 6, 2014	\$	$50.47^{(2)}$	9,000	
February 28, 2014	\$	$50.85^{(2)}$	3,750	
February 21, 2014	\$	$50.97^{(2)}$	2,700	
February 21, 2014	\$	$51.39^{(2)}$	7,300	
February 21, 2014	\$	$51.65^{(2)}$	7,500	
February 20, 2014	\$	$50.68^{(2)}$	34,000	
February 6, 2014	\$	$49.34^{(2)}$	5,000	
February 5, 2014	\$	$49.04^{(2)}$	12,500	
January 30, 2014	\$	$48.20^{(2)}$	20,000	
January 30, 2014	\$	$49.02^{(2)}$	12,500	
January 30, 2014	\$	$49.16^{(2)}$	100,000	
January 28, 2014	\$	$47.65^{(2)}$	212,190	
January 27, 2014	\$	$50.08^{(3)}$	1,485,000	
January 27, 2014	\$	$48.23^{(2)}$	100,000	
January 27, 2014	\$	$48.50^{(2)}$	50,000	
January 17, 2014	\$	$44.99^{(2)}$	4,000	
January 16, 2014	\$	$38.54^{(4)}$	2,595,042	
January 8, 2014	\$	$46.63^{(2)}$	1,000	
December 31, 2013	\$	$43.72^{(5)}$	28,594	
December 13, 2013	\$	$44.06^{(2)}$	3,000	
December 5, 2013	\$	$44.43^{(2)}$	4,000	
November 26, 2013	\$	$42.74^{(2)}$	5,000	
November 18, 2013	\$	$42.83^{(2)}$	14,000	
November 13, 2013	\$	$42.85^{(2)}$	17,096	
November 12, 2013	\$	$42.45^{(2)}$	10,000	
November 11, 2013	\$	$41.84^{(2)}$	37,500	
November 7, 2013	\$	$41.61^{(3)}$	378,654	

Edgar Filing: OPEN TEXT CORP - Form S-3ASR

October 16, 2013	\$ 38.13(2)	3,000
October 1, 2013	\$ $37.59^{(2)}$	50,000
September 26, 2013	\$ $37.00^{(2)}$	3,106
September 26, 2013	\$ $37.09^{(2)}$	1,552
September 26, 2013	\$ $37.11^{(2)}$	1,242
September 19, 2013	\$ $36.52^{(2)}$	3,106
September 19, 2013	\$ $36.65^{(2)}$	464
September 18, 2013	\$ $36.63^{(2)}$	5,434

	Price		
	per Common	Number of Common	
Date of Issue/Grant	Share <sup>(1)</sup>	Shares <sup>(1)</sup>	
September 16, 2013	\$ 35.66(2)	930	
September 13, 2013	\$ 36.04 <sup>(2)</sup>	10,000	
September 3, 2013	\$ 34.65(2)	5,000	
August 29, 2013	\$ 34.97(2)	2,328	
August 2, 2013	\$ 33.17(3)	270,288	
August 2, 2013	\$ 33.17(2)	48,000	
July 29, 2013	\$ 36.00(2)	1,552	
July 23, 2013	\$ 35.30(2)	1,164	
July 23, 2013	\$ 35.34(2)	464	
June 28, 2013	\$ 32.60 <sup>(5)</sup>	33,378	
June 14, 2013	\$ 36.10(2)	10,000	
June 6, 2013	\$ 37.77 <sup>(2)</sup>	5,000	
June 4, 2013	\$ 35.25(2)	15,000	
June 3, 2013	\$ 34.56(2)	1,750	
June 3, 2013	\$ 34.63(2)	5,000	
May 16, 2013	\$ 34.41 <sup>(2)</sup>	44,000	
May 16, 2013	\$ 35.00(2)	3,750	
May 14, 2013	\$ 34.43(2)	116,600	
May 9, 2013	\$ 34.37(2)	5,000	
May 6, 2013	\$ 33.43(2)	5,000	
May 3, 2013	\$ 33.03(2)	20,600	
May 3, 2013	\$ 33.40(2)	20,000	
May 2, 2013	\$ 32.90(2)	140,000	
May 2, 2013	\$ 32.94(2)	24,000	
May 1, 2013	\$ 32.70(2)	10,000	
April 30, 2013	\$ 32.00(2)	5,000	
April 29, 2013	\$ 31.84(2)	100,000	
April 29, 2013	\$ 32.01(2)	3,000	
April 26, 2013	\$ 31.76 <sup>(3)</sup>	140,000	
April 26, 2013	\$ 31.60(2)	300,000	
April 26, 2013	\$ 32.03(2)	10,000	

- (1) Figures shown reflect a two-for-one stock split of our common shares in the form of a stock dividend which was effected on February 18, 2014.
- (2) Issued upon exercise of options granted pursuant to one of the Company s stock option plans.
- (3) Options to acquire common shares granted pursuant to the Company s stock option plan originally adopted by the board of directors in October, 2004.
- (4) Issued in connection with our acquisition of GXS Group, Inc. Pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated November 4, 2013, we agreed to issue to certain preferred stockholders of GXS Group, Inc. that were verified as accredited investors under the Securities Act, an aggregate of \$100 million worth of common shares based on an average trading-price for the 10 days ended January 14, 2014, but at a price no lower than \$34.87 per share and no higher than \$38.54 per share on a post-stock split basis. Given the applicable trading average, the shares were issued on January 16, 2014 based on a deemed price of \$38.54 per share, resulting in the issuance of

- 2,595,042 common shares, on a post-stock split basis.
- (5) Issued pursuant to the Company's employee share purchase plan, originally adopted by the board of directors in October, 2004.

6

# **Trading Price and Volume**

Our common shares are traded on the NASDAQ under the symbol OTEX and on the TSX under the symbol OTC. The following tables set forth the reported high and low closing prices and the aggregate volume of trading of our common shares, respectively, on the NASDAQ and the TSX for the periods indicated during the 12-month period before the date of this prospectus. The prices below have been adjusted to reflect the two-for-one stock split of our common shares in the form of a stock dividend effected on February 18, 2014.

### **NASDAQ**

Month	U.S.\$ High	U.S.\$ Low	Volume
March, 2013	29.51	27.46	7,011,686
April, 2013	32.70	27.29	12,344,434
May, 2013	35.14	32.90	9,160,790
June, 2013	36.69	33.22	10,253,186
July, 2013	36.05	33.73	7,794,214
August, 2013	35.01	32.53	12,156,150
September, 2013	37.80	34.66	5,123,856
October, 2013	38.91	36.58	8,451,850
November, 2013	43.21	36.70	14,271,342
December, 2013	46.33	43.46	14,346,714
January, 2014	50.08	44.32	18,324,038
February, 2014	51.57	49.01	8,539,034
March, 2014	50.71	46.61	5,910,010
April, 2014 (to April 23, 2014)	47.09	45.34	5,255,702

The closing price of our common shares on the NASDAQ on April 23, 2014 was U.S.\$46.13.

### **TSX**

Month	Cdn.\$ High	Cdn.\$ Low	Volume
March, 2013	30.19	28.22	6,752,060
April, 2013	32.92	28.01	8,269,002
May, 2013	36.10	33.17	17,763,242
June, 2013	37.44	34.78	8,227,664
July, 2013	37.03	34.74	6,811,348
August, 2013	36.72	33.74	5,681,352
September, 2013	38.93	36.51	5,880,122
October, 2013	40.69	38.09	8,725,576
November, 2013	45.28	38.35	8,782,456
December, 2013	49.23	46.29	5,151,590
January, 2014	55.50	48.25	11,903,900
February, 2014	56.62	55.77	5,551,271
March, 2014	56.39	51.48	4,971,538
April, 2014 (to April 23, 2014)	51.92	49.75	4,863,401

The closing price of our common shares on the TSX on April 23, 2014 was Cdn.\$50.81.

# **Consolidated Capitalization**

There have been no material changes in our share or loan capital on a consolidated basis since March 31, 2014, being the date on which our most recently completed financial quarter ended.

7

### **DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES**

This prospectus contains summary descriptions of the common shares, preference shares, debt securities, depositary shares, warrants, purchase contracts, units and subscription receipts that we or selling securityholders, as applicable, may sell from time to time. These summary descriptions are not meant to be complete descriptions of each security. The particular terms of any security will be described in a related prospectus supplement, if necessary.

### **Description of Common Shares**

The description below summarizes the general terms of our common shares. This section is a summary, and it does not describe every aspect of our common shares. This summary is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to our articles and our by-laws.

#### **Authorized Shares**

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares without par value. As of the date of this prospectus, there were 121,592,348 common shares outstanding. All outstanding common shares are fully paid and non-assessable.

### **Voting Rights**

Holders of common shares are entitled to receive notice of and to attend all shareholder meetings and are entitled to cast one vote for each common share held of record on all matters acted upon at any shareholder meeting. Holders of the common shares are not entitled to cumulate votes in connection with the election of directors.

### **Dividends and Other Distributions**

Holders of the common shares are entitled to dividends if, as and when declared by the board of directors of the Company, subject to the rights of shares, if any, having priority over the common shares, including the preference shares. Our board of directors adopted a policy in April 2013 to pay non-cumulative quarterly dividends. However, future declarations of dividends are subject to the final determination of our board of directors, in its discretion based on a number of factors that it deems relevant, including our financial position, results of operations, available cash resources, cash requirements and alternative uses of cash that our board of directors may conclude would be in the best interest of our shareholders. Our dividend payments are subject to relevant contractual limitations, including those in our existing credit agreements.

### **Liquidation Rights**

Upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, the holders of common shares are entitled to share ratably in all assets remaining after payment of debts and liabilities, subject to the rights of shares, if any, having priority over the common shares, including the preference shares.

### **Other Provisions**

Holders of common shares have no pre-emptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights.

# **Shareholder Rights Plan**

On September 26, 2013, our shareholders approved the continuation, amendment and restatement of the shareholder rights plan (the Amended Rights Plan ) that OpenText and Computershare Investor Services Inc. originally entered into as of December 2, 2010. Upon such shareholder approval, the Amended Rights Plan was entered into as of September 26, 2013.

The Amended Rights Plan continues a right (which may only be exercised if a person acquires control of 20% or more of our common shares) for each shareholder, other than the person that acquires 20% or more of the common shares, to acquire additional common shares at one-half of the market price at the time of exercise. The primary objectives of the Amended Rights Plan are to ensure that, in the context of a bid for control of the Company through an acquisition of the common shares, our board of directors has sufficient time to assess alternatives for maximizing shareholder value as it considers in its judgment to be in the best interests of the Company, including: continued implementation of our long-term strategic plans, as these may be modified by us from time to time; to provide adequate time for competing bids to emerge; to ensure that shareholders have an equal opportunity to participate in such a bid and to give them adequate time to properly assess the bid; and lessen the pressure to tender typically encountered by a securityholder of an issuer that is subject to a bid.

The Amended Rights Plan will remain in force until the earlier of the Termination Time (the time at which the right to exercise rights shall terminate, as defined in the Amended Rights Plan) and the termination of the annual meeting of the shareholders in the year 2016 unless at or prior to such meeting our shareholders ratify the continued existence of the Amended Rights Plan, in which case the Amended Rights Plan would expire at the earlier of the Termination Time and the termination of the 2019 annual meeting of our shareholders.

## **Description of Preference Shares**

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of preference shares (designated in our articles as First Preference Shares), without par value, in one or more series, each such series consisting of such number of shares and having the designation, rights (including voting and dividend rights), privileges, restrictions and conditions as may be determined by our board of directors and as will be set forth in an amendment to our articles. The prospectus supplement relating to any series of preference shares we may offer will contain the specific terms of that series, including some or all of the following:

whether the shares of the series are redeemable, and if so, the prices at which, and the terms and conditions on which, the shares may be redeemed, including the date or dates upon or after which the shares will be redeemable and the amount per share payable in case of redemption;

whether shares of the series will be entitled to receive dividends or other distributions and, if so, the distribution rate on the shares, any restriction, limitation or condition upon the payment of the dividends or other distributions, whether dividends or other distributions will be cumulative, and the dates on which dividends or other distributions are payable;

any preferential amount payable upon shares of the series in the event of voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of OpenText;

whether and the extent to which the series will be guaranteed;

whether the shares of the series are convertible, or exchangeable for, shares of any other class or classes of stock or of any other series of stock, or any other securities of Open Text, and if so, the terms and conditions

of such conversion or exchange, including price or rates of conversion at which, and the terms and conditions on which, the shares of the series may be converted or exchanged into other securities;

a discussion of any material U.S. federal income tax and Canadian federal or provincial income tax considerations applicable to the preference shares being offered;

terms and conditions of the purchase or sinking fund provisions, if any, for the purchase or redemption of shares of the series;

the distinctive designation of each series and the number of shares that will constitute the series;

the voting power, if any, of shares of the series; and

any other relative rights, preferences or limitations.

9

Holders of each series of preference shares, except as required by law, will not be entitled to vote at shareholder meetings except as specified in the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions relating to the series of preference shares. With respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets in the event of the liquidation or winding-up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the preference shares of each series shall rank on parity with the preference shares of every other series and are entitled to preference over the common shares and any other shares from time to time and may also be given such other preference over the common shares and any other shares ranking junior to the preference shares as may be determined at the time of creation of such series.

As of the date of this prospectus, no preference shares are outstanding.

### **Description of Debt Securities**

This section describes the general terms that will apply to any debt securities that we may offer pursuant to this prospectus and an applicable prospectus supplement. The specific terms of any offered debt securities, and the extent to which the general terms described in this section apply to these debt securities, will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement at the time of the offering. The prospectus supplement may or may not modify the general terms found in this prospectus. For a complete description of any series of debt securities, you should read both this prospectus and the prospectus supplement that applies to that series of debt securities.

In this section, the terms we, our, us and OpenText refer solely to Open Text Corporation (and not to any of its affiliates, including subsidiaries). As used in this prospectus, debt securities means the debentures, notes, bonds and other evidences of indebtedness offered pursuant to this prospectus and an applicable prospectus supplement and authenticated, to the extent required, and delivered, under the applicable indenture.

We may issue senior debt securities or subordinated debt securities. We refer to the senior debt securities and the subordinated debt securities together in this prospectus as the debt securities. We may issue senior debt securities under an indenture dated as of April 24, 2014 among us and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as trustee, and Computershare Trust Company of Canada, as co-trustee. This indenture, as supplemented from time to time, is referred to in this prospectus as the senior indenture. The senior indenture is filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. We may issue subordinated debt under a separate indenture to be entered into among us and one or more trustees and co-trustees. This indenture, as supplemented from time to time, is referred to in this prospectus as the subordinated indenture. The trustee and the co-trustee for each series of our subordinated debt securities issued under the subordinated indenture will be identified in the applicable prospectus supplement. References to the indenture in this prospectus refer to the senior indenture or the subordinated indenture, as applicable. With respect to the senior indenture, we refer to Computershare Trust Company, N.A. as the trustee and Computershare Trust Company of Canada as the co-trustee in this prospectus. With respect to the subordinated indenture, references to the trustee and the co-trustee in this prospectus refer to the trustee and the co-trustee to be identified in the applicable prospectus supplement. If a different trustee or co-trustee or a different indenture for a series of debt securities is used, those details will be provided in a prospectus supplement and the forms of any other indentures will be filed with the SEC and the securities commissions or similar regulatory authorities in each of the provinces of Canada other than Québec (which we refer to as the Canadian securities regulators) at the time they are used.

We have summarized below the material provisions of the indenture and the debt securities, and indicated which material provisions will be described in an applicable prospectus supplement. For further information, you should read the indenture. The following summary is qualified in its entirety by the provisions of the indenture.

## General

The debt securities that we may offer under the indenture are not limited in aggregate principal amount. We may issue debt securities at one or more times in one or more series. Each series of debt securities may have

10

different terms. The terms of any series of debt securities will be described in, or determined by action taken pursuant to, a resolution of our board of directors or a committee appointed by our board of directors or in a supplement to the indenture relating to that series.

We are not obligated to issue all debt securities of one series at the same time and, unless otherwise provided in the prospectus supplement, we may reopen a series, without the consent of the holders of the debt securities of that series, for the issuance of additional debt securities of that series. Additional debt securities of a particular series will have the same terms and conditions as outstanding debt securities of that series, except for the date of original issuance and the offering price, and will be consolidated with, and form a single series with, those outstanding debt securities.

The prospectus supplement relating to any series of debt securities that we may offer will state the price or prices at which the debt securities will be offered and will contain the specific terms of that series. These terms may include the following:

the title of the series;

any limit upon the aggregate principal amount of the series;

the date or dates on which each of the principal of and premium, if any, on the securities of the series is payable and the method of determination thereof;

the rate or rates at which the securities of the series will bear interest, if any, or the method of calculating such rate or rates of interest, the date or dates from which interest will accrue or the method by which the date or dates will be determined, the interest payment dates on which any interest will be payable and the record date, if any;

the place or places where the principal of (and premium, if any) and interest, if any, on securities of the series will be payable;

the place or places where the securities may be exchanged or transferred;

the period or periods within which, the price or prices at which, the currency or currencies (including currency unit or units) in which, and the other terms and conditions upon which, securities of the series may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at our option, if we are to have that option with respect to the applicable series;

our obligation, if any, to redeem or purchase securities of the series in whole or in part pursuant to any sinking fund or analogous provision or upon the happening of a specified event or at the option of a holder thereof and the period or periods within which, the price or prices at which, and the other terms and

conditions upon which securities of the series will be redeemed or purchased, in whole or in part, pursuant to such an obligation;

if other than denominations of \$2,000 and multiples of \$1,000 thereafter, the denominations in which securities of the series are issuable;

if other than U.S. dollars, the currency or currencies (including currency unit or units) in which payments of principal of (and premium, if any) and interest, if any, on the securities of the series will or may be payable, or in which the securities of the series will be denominated, and the particular provisions applicable thereto;

if the payments of principal of (and premium, if any), or interest, if any, on the securities of the series are to be made, at our or a holder s election, in a currency or currencies (including currency unit or units) other than that in which the securities are denominated or designated to be payable, the currency or currencies (including currency unit or units) in which the payments are to be made, the terms and conditions of the payments and the manner in which the exchange rate with respect to the payments will be determined, and the particular provisions applicable thereto;

11

if the amount of payments of principal of (and premium, if any) and interest, if any, on the securities of the series will be determined with reference to an index, formula or other method (which index, formula or method may be based, without limitation, on a currency or currencies (including currency unit or units) other than that in which the securities of the series are denominated or designated to be payable), the index, formula or other method by which those amounts will be determined;

whether, and the terms and conditions upon which, the securities of the series may or must be converted into our securities or exchanged for our securities or those of another enterprise;

if other than the principal amount thereof, the portion of the principal amount of securities of the series which will be payable upon declaration of acceleration of the maturity thereof pursuant to an event of default or the method by which that portion will be determined;

any ranking provisions or subordination provisions applicable to securities of the series;

any modifications of or additions to the events of default or covenants with respect to securities of the series;

any modifications of or additions to subordination provisions with respect to the subordinated debt securities;

whether the securities of the series will be subject to legal defeasance or covenant defeasance as provided in the indenture;

if other than the trustee or co-trustee, the identity of the registrar and any paying agent;

if the securities of the series will be issued in whole or in part in global form, (i) the depositary for the global securities, (ii) the form of any legend that will be borne by the global securities, (iii) whether beneficial owners of interests in any securities of the series in global form may exchange those interests for certificated securities of that series and of like tenor of any authorized form and denomination and (iv) the circumstances under which any such exchange may occur;

a discussion of any material U.S. federal income tax and Canadian federal or provincial income tax considerations applicable to the debt securities being offered; and

any other terms of the series.

### Interest

Unless otherwise indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, if any payment date with respect to debt securities falls on a day that is not a business day, we will make the payment on the next business day. The payment made on the next business day will be treated as though it had been made on the original payment date, and no interest will accrue on the payment for the additional period of time.

## Ranking

The senior debt securities that we may offer under the indenture will be our direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations and will rank *pari passu* with all of our other unsecured obligations. However, the senior debt securities will be effectively junior to all of our secured obligations to the extent of the value of the assets securing those obligations. The debt securities will also be structurally subordinated to all liabilities, including trade payables, of our subsidiaries. The subordinated debt securities will be our direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations and will be junior in right of payment to our existing and future senior obligations. The extent of subordination of the subordinated debt securities will be described below under Additional Provisions Applicable to Subordinated Debt Securities Subordination of Subordinated Debt Securities, or as described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

12

#### **Covenants**

Except as described below or in the prospectus supplement with respect to any series of debt securities, neither we nor our subsidiaries are restricted by the indenture from paying dividends or making distributions on our or their capital stock or purchasing or redeeming our or their capital stock. The indenture does not require the maintenance of any financial ratios or specified levels of net worth or liquidity. In addition, with certain exceptions, the indenture does not contain any covenants or other provisions that would limit our or our subsidiaries—right to incur additional indebtedness or limit the amount of additional indebtedness, including senior or secured indebtedness that we can create, incur, assume or guarantee.

Unless otherwise indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, covenants contained in the indenture will be applicable to the series of debt securities to which the prospectus supplement relates so long as any of the debt securities of that series are outstanding.

### Reporting

The indenture provides that we will furnish to the trustee, within 30 days after we file such annual and quarterly reports, information, documents and other reports with the SEC, copies of our annual report and of the information, documents and other reports that we are required to file with the SEC pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. We will also comply with the other provisions of Section 314(a) of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (the Trust Indenture Act ).

### Amalgamation, Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets

The indenture provides that we may not amalgamate, consolidate or merge with or into, or sell or convey all or substantially all of our assets in any one transaction or series of related transactions to another person, unless:

either we are the resulting, surviving or transferee corporation, or our successor is a corporation that expressly assumes by supplemental indenture all of our obligations under the indenture and all the debt securities; and

immediately after giving effect to the transaction, no default or event of default has occurred and is continuing.

Except in the case of a lease of all or substantially all of our assets, the successor will be substituted for us in the indenture with the same effect as if it had been an original party to such indenture. Thereafter, the successor may exercise our rights and powers under the indenture.

### **Events of Default, Notice and Waiver**

In the indenture, the term event of default with respect to debt securities of any series means any of the following:

failure by us to pay interest, if any, on the debt securities of that series for 30 days after the date payment is due and payable;

failure by us to pay principal of or premium, if any, on the debt securities of that series when due, at maturity, upon any redemption, by declaration or otherwise;

failure by us to comply with other covenants in the indenture or the debt securities of that series for 90 days after notice that compliance was required;

certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency of us; and

any other event of default with respect to a series of debt securities described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

13

If an event of default (other than relating to certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency of us or breach of our reporting obligation) has occurred and is continuing, the trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the debt securities of that series may declare the entire principal of all the debt securities of the affected series to be due and payable immediately.

If an event of default relating to certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency of us occurs and is continuing, then the principal amount of all of the outstanding debt securities and any accrued interest thereon will automatically become due and payable immediately, without any declaration or other act by the trustee or co-trustee or any holder.

The holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the debt securities of any series may, after satisfying conditions, rescind and annul any of the above-described declarations and consequences involving the debt securities of that series, except a continuing default or event of default in the payment of principal of, or interest or premium, if any, on the debt securities of the affected series.

The indenture imposes limitations on suits brought by holders of debt securities of any series against us. Except for actions for payment of overdue principal or interest, no holder of a debt security of any series may institute any action against us under the indenture unless:

the holder has previously given to the trustee and the co-trustee written notice of an event of default and the continuance of that event of default;

the holder or holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series have requested that the trustee and the co-trustee pursue the remedy;

such holder or holders have offered to the trustee and the co-trustee security or indemnity reasonably satisfactory to the trustee and the co-trustee against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred in compliance with such request;

the trustee and the co-trustee have not complied with the request within 60 days of the receipt of such notice, request and offer of indemnity; and

during the 60-day period, the trustee and the co-trustee have not received inconsistent direction by the holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series.

We will be required to file annually with the trustee or co-trustee a certificate, signed by an officer of our company, stating whether or not the officer knows of any default by us in the performance, observance or fulfillment of any condition or covenant of the indenture.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any breach of our obligation under the indenture to file or furnish reports or other financial information pursuant to section 314(a)(1) of the Trust Indenture Act (or as otherwise required by the indenture) will not constitute a default or an event of default. The sole remedy for such breach will be the payment of liquidated damages, and the holders will not have any right under the indenture to accelerate the maturity of the debt securities of the affected series as a result of any such breach. If any such breach continues for 90 days after notice

thereof is given in accordance with the indenture, we will pay liquidated damages to all the holders of the debt securities of that series at a rate per annum equal to 0.25% per annum of the principal amount of the debt securities of that series from the 90th day following such notice to but not including the date on which the breach relating to the reporting obligations referred to in this paragraph shall have been cured or waived. The provisions of the indenture described in this paragraph will not affect the rights of the holders of the debt securities of any series in the event of the occurrence of any other event of default.

#### **Modification and Waiver**

Except as provided in the two succeeding paragraphs, the indenture provides that we and the trustee and co-trustee thereunder may, with the consent of the holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount

14

of the debt securities of any series then outstanding (including, without limitation, consents obtained in connection with a purchase of, or tender offer or exchange offer for, debt securities of that series), voting as one class, add any provisions to, or change in any manner, eliminate or modify in any way the provisions of, the indenture or modify in any manner the rights of the holders of the debt securities of that series.

We and the trustee and the co-trustee may amend or supplement the indenture or the debt securities of any series without the consent of any holder to:

secure the debt securities of any series;

evidence the assumption by a successor corporation of our obligations under the indenture and the debt securities of any series in the case of a merger, amalgamation, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets;

add covenant(s) or events of default(s) for the protection of the holders of all or any series of debt securities;

cure any ambiguity or correct any defect or inconsistency in the indenture or make any other provisions as we may deem necessary or desirable; provided, however, that no such provisions will materially adversely affect the interests of the holders of any debt securities;

evidence and provide for the acceptance of appointment by a successor trustee in accordance with the indenture;

provide for uncertificated debt securities in addition to, or in place of, certificated debt securities of any series in a manner that does not materially and adversely affect any holders of the debt securities of that series;

conform the text of the indenture or the debt securities of any series to any provision of this Description of Debt Securities or Description of Notes in the prospectus supplement for that series to the extent that the provision in that description was intended to be a verbatim recitation of a provision of the indenture or the debt securities of that series;

provide for the issuance of additional debt securities of any series in accordance with the limitations set forth in the indenture as of the date of the indenture;

make any change that would provide any additional rights or benefits to the holders of all or any series of debt securities or that does not adversely affect the legal rights under the indenture of any such holder or any holder of a beneficial interest in the debt securities of that series;

comply with requirements of the SEC in order to effect or maintain the qualification of the indenture under the Trust Indenture Act;

comply with the requirements of the Canada Business Corporations Act applicable to trust indentures;

establish the form or terms of debt securities of any series as permitted by the indenture;

secure our obligations in respect of the debt securities of any series;

in the case of convertible or exchangeable debt securities of any series, subject to the provisions of the supplemental indenture for that series, to provide for conversion rights, exchange rights and/or repurchase rights of holders of that series in connection with any reclassification or change of our common shares or in the event of any amalgamation, consolidation, merger or sale of all or substantially all of the assets of us or our subsidiaries substantially as an entirety occurs;

in the case of convertible or exchangeable debt securities of any series, to reduce the conversion price or exchange price applicable to that series;

in the case of convertible or exchangeable debt securities of any series, to increase the conversion rate or exchange ratio in the manner described in the supplemental indenture for that series, provided that the increase will not adversely affect the interests of the holders of that series in any material respect; or

15

any other action to amend or supplement the indenture or the debt securities of any series as described in the prospectus supplement with respect to that series of debt securities.

We and the trustee and the co-trustee may not, without the consent of the holder of each outstanding debt security affected thereby:

change the final maturity of any debt security;

reduce the aggregate principal amount on any debt security;

reduce the rate or amend or modify the calculation, or time of payment, of interest, including defaulted interest on any debt security;

reduce or alter the method of computation of any amount payable on any debt security upon redemption, prepayment or purchase of any debt security or otherwise alter or waive any of the provisions with respect to the redemption of any debt security, or waive a redemption payment with respect to any debt security;

change the currency in which the principal of, or interest or premium, if any, on any debt security is payable;

impair the right to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on any debt security when due, or otherwise make any change in the provisions of the indenture relating to waivers of past defaults or the rights of holders of any debt security to receive payments of principal of, or premium, if any, or interest on any debt security;

modify the provisions of the indenture with respect to modification and waiver (including waiver of certain covenants or waiver of a default or event of default in respect of debt securities of any series), except to increase the percentage required for modification or waiver or to provide for the consent of each affected holder;

reduce the percentage of principal amount of outstanding debt securities of any series whose holders must consent to an amendment, supplement or waiver of the indenture or the debt securities of that series;

change the ranking provisions of the subordinated indenture in a manner adverse to the holders of debt securities issued thereunder in any material respect;

impair the rights of holders of debt securities of any series that are exchangeable or convertible to receive payment or delivery of any consideration due upon the conversion or exchange of the debt securities of that series; or

any other action to modify or amend the indenture or the debt securities of any series as may be described in the prospectus supplement with respect to that series of debt securities as requiring the consent of each holder affected thereby.

#### **Defeasance**

The indenture provides that we will be discharged from any and all obligations in respect of the debt securities of any series (except for certain obligations to register the transfer or exchange of the debt securities, to replace stolen, lost or mutilated debt securities, to maintain paying agencies, to hold monies for payment in trust and to pay the principal of and interest, if any, on those debt securities and certain obligations to the trustee and co-trustee), upon the deposit with the applicable trustee and co-trustee, in trust, of money and/or U.S. government obligations, which through the payment of interest and principal of the U.S. government obligations in accordance with their terms will provide money in an amount sufficient to pay any installment of principal and premium, if any, and interest, if any, on the debt securities of that series on the stated maturity date thereof in accordance with the terms of the indenture and the debt securities of that series. Also, the establishment of such a

trust will be conditioned on the delivery by us to the trustee and co-trustee of (i) an opinion of U.S. counsel reasonably satisfactory to the trustee and co-trustee to the effect that, based upon applicable U.S. federal income tax law or a ruling published by the United States Internal Revenue Service (the IRS), such a defeasance and discharge will not be deemed, or result in, a taxable event with respect to the holders and (ii) an opinion of Canadian counsel reasonably satisfactory to the trustee and co-trustee to the effect that, based upon applicable Canadian federal or provincial income tax law or a ruling from the Canada Revenue Agency, such a defeasance and discharge will not be deemed, or result in, a taxable event with respect to the holders. For the avoidance of doubt, either such opinion would require a change in current U.S. and Canadian tax laws.

We may also omit to comply with the restrictive covenants, if any, of any particular series of debt securities, other than our covenant to pay the amounts due and owing with respect to that series. Any such omission will not be an event of default with respect to the debt securities of that series, upon the deposit with the applicable trustee and co-trustee, in trust, of money and/or U.S. government obligations, which through the payment of interest and principal of the U.S. government obligations in accordance with their terms will provide money in an amount sufficient to pay any installment of principal and premium, if any, and interest, if any, on the debt securities of that series on the stated maturity date thereof in accordance with the terms of the indenture and the debt securities of that series. Our obligations under the indenture and the debt securities of that series of that series. Our obligations under the indenture and the debt securities of that series other than with respect to those covenants will remain in full force and effect. Also, the establishment of such a trust will be conditioned on the delivery by us to the trustee and co-trustee of (i) an opinion of U.S. counsel reasonably satisfactory to the trustee and co-trustee to the effect that, based upon applicable U.S. federal income tax law or a ruling published by the IRS, such a defeasance and discharge will not be deemed, or result in, a taxable event with respect to the holders and (ii) an opinion of Canadian counsel reasonably satisfactory to the trustee and co-trustee to the effect that, based upon applicable Canadian federal or provincial income tax law or a ruling from the Canada Revenue Agency, such a defeasance and discharge will not be deemed, or result in, a taxable event with respect to the holders.

## Satisfaction and Discharge

At our option, we may satisfy and discharge the indenture with respect to the debt securities of any series (except for specified obligations of the trustee and co-trustee and ours, including, among others, the obligations to apply money held in trust) when:

either (a) all debt securities of that series previously authenticated under the indenture have been delivered to the trustee or co-trustee for cancellation or (b) all debt securities of that series not yet delivered to the trustee or co-trustee for cancellation (i) have become due and payable by reason of the mailing of a notice of redemption or otherwise or (ii) will become due and payable within one year, and we have irrevocably deposited or caused to be deposited with the trustee or co-trustee as trust funds in trust solely for the benefit of the holders an amount sufficient to pay and discharge the entire indebtedness on debt securities of that series:

no default or event of default with respect to debt securities of that series has occurred or is continuing on the date of the deposit or will occur as a result of the deposit and the deposit will not result in a breach or violation of any other instrument to which we are bound;

we have paid or caused to be paid all other sums payable by us under the indenture and any applicable supplemental indenture with respect to the debt securities of that series;

we have delivered irrevocable instructions to the trustee or co-trustee to apply the deposited funds toward the payment of securities of that series at the stated maturity date or the redemption date, as applicable; and

we have delivered to the trustee or co-trustee an officers certificate and an opinion of counsel stating that all conditions precedent relating to the satisfaction and discharge of the indenture as to that series have been satisfied.

17

## **Unclaimed Money**

If money deposited with the trustee or co-trustee or paying agent for the payment of principal of, premium or accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on debt securities remains unclaimed for two years, the trustee or co-trustee and paying agent will pay the money back to us upon our request. However, the trustee or co-trustee and paying agent have the right to withhold paying the money back to us until they publish in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of New York and Toronto, or mail to each holder, a notice stating that the money will be paid back to us if unclaimed after a date no less than 30 calendar days from the publication or mailing. After the trustee or co-trustee or paying agent pays the money back to us, holders of debt securities entitled to the money must look to us for payment, subject to applicable law, and all liability of the trustee and co-trustee and the paying agent with respect to the money will cease.

#### **Purchase and Cancellation**

The registrar and paying agent will forward to the trustee or co-trustee any debt securities surrendered to them for transfer, exchange, redemption or payment, and the trustee or co-trustee will promptly cancel those debt securities in accordance with its customary procedures. We will not issue new debt securities to replace debt securities that we have paid or delivered to the trustee or co-trustee for cancellation or that any holder has converted.

We may, to the extent permitted by law, purchase debt securities in the open market or by tender offer at any price or by private agreement. We may, at our option and to the extent permitted by law, reissue, resell or surrender to the trustee or co-trustee for cancellation any debt securities we purchase in this manner; provided that we not reissue or resell those debt securities if upon reissuance or resale, they would constitute restricted securities within the meaning of Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Debt securities surrendered to the trustee or co-trustee for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and will be promptly cancelled.

#### **Replacement of Debt Securities**

We will replace mutilated, lost, destroyed or stolen debt securities at the holder s expense upon delivery to the trustee or co-trustee of the mutilated debt securities or evidence of the loss, destruction or theft of the debt securities satisfactory to the trustee or co-trustee and us. In the case of a lost, destroyed or stolen debt security, we or the trustee or co-trustee may require, at the expense of the holder, indemnity satisfactory to us and the trustee or co-trustee.

## **Book-Entry Issuance**

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable prospectus supplement (which may include certain other procedures applicable to securities issued to Canadian investors), our debt securities will be book-entry securities that are cleared and settled through the Depositary Trust Company (DTC), a securities depositary. Upon issuance, unless otherwise specified in the applicable prospectus supplement, all book-entry securities of the same series will be represented by one or more fully registered global securities. Each global security will be deposited with, or on behalf of, DTC and will be registered in the name of DTC or a nominee of DTC. DTC will thus be the only registered holder of any such securities and will be considered the sole owner of the securities.

Purchasers may only hold interests in the global securities through DTC if they are participants in the DTC system. Purchasers may also hold interests through a securities intermediary a bank, brokerage house or other institution that maintains securities accounts for customers that has an account with DTC or its nominee. DTC will maintain accounts showing the securities holdings of its participants, and these participants will in turn maintain accounts showing the securities holdings of their customers. Some of these customers may themselves be securities intermediaries holding

securities for their customers. Thus, each beneficial owner of a book-entry security will hold that security indirectly through a hierarchy of intermediaries, with DTC at the top and the beneficial owner s own securities intermediary at the bottom.

The securities of each beneficial owner of a book-entry security will be evidenced solely by entries on the books of the beneficial owner s securities intermediary. The actual purchaser of the securities will generally not be entitled to have the securities represented by the global securities registered in its name and will not be considered the owner. In most cases, a beneficial owner will also not be able to obtain a paper certificate evidencing the holder s ownership of securities. The book-entry system for holding securities eliminates the need for physical movement of certificates. The laws of some jurisdictions require some purchasers of securities to take physical delivery of their securities in definitive form. These laws may impair the ability to transfer book-entry securities.

Unless otherwise specified in the prospectus supplement with respect to a series of debt securities, the beneficial owner of book-entry securities represented by a global security may exchange the securities for definitive or paper securities only if:

DTC is unwilling or unable to continue as depositary for such global security and we are unable to find a qualified replacement for DTC within 90 days;

at any time DTC ceases to be a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act and we are unable to find a qualified replacement for DTC within 90 days;

We in our sole discretion decide to allow some or all book-entry securities to be exchangeable for definitive securities in registered form; or

An event of default has occurred and is continuing under the indenture, and a holder of the securities has requested definitive securities.

Any global security that is exchangeable will be exchangeable in whole for definitive securities in registered form with the same terms, and in the case of debt securities, in an equal aggregate principal amount in denominations of \$2,000 and whole multiples of \$1,000 (unless otherwise specified in the prospectus supplement). Definitive securities will be registered in the name or names of the person or persons specified by DTC in a written instruction to the registrar of the securities. DTC may base its written instruction upon directions it receives from its participants.

In this prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement, for book-entry securities, references to actions taken by security holders will mean actions taken by DTC upon instructions from its participants, and references to payments and notices of redemption to security holders will mean payments and notices of redemption to DTC as the registered holder of the securities for distribution to participants in accordance with DTC s procedures.

DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the laws of the State of New York, a banking organization within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a clearing corporation within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code and a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act. The rules applicable to DTC and its participants are on file with the SEC.

Neither we nor the trustee or co-trustee shall have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to, or payments made on account of, beneficial ownership interests in the book-entry securities or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to the beneficial ownership interests.

# **Regarding the Trustee and Co-Trustee**

Computershare Trust Company, N.A. is the trustee and Computershare Trust Company of Canada is the co-trustee under the senior indenture. The trustee and the co-trustee for each series of our subordinated debt securities issued under the subordinated indenture will be identified in the applicable prospectus supplement.

Except during the continuance of an event of default, the trustee and the co-trustee will perform only such duties as are specifically set forth in the indenture. During the existence of an event of default, the trustee and the

19

co-trustee will exercise such of the rights and powers vested in it under the indenture and use the same degree of care and skill in its exercise as a prudent person would exercise under the circumstances in the conduct of such person s own affairs. The holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding debt securities of any series will have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for exercising any remedy available to the trustee and co-trustee, subject to certain exceptions. Subject to these provisions, none of the trustee or the co-trustee will be under obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under the indenture at the request of any holder of debt securities, unless such holder has offered to the trustee or the co-trustee security and indemnity satisfactory to it against any loss, liability or expense.

Pursuant and subject to the Trust Indenture Act, the trustee and the co-trustee will be permitted to engage in other transactions with us; however, if the trustee or the co-trustee acquires any conflicting interest, it would be required to eliminate such conflict within 90 days, apply to the SEC for permission to continue as trustee or co-trustee, or resign.

The trustee and co-trustee are affiliates of Computershare Investors Services Inc. which is the transfer agent and registrar for our common shares.

## No individual liability of directors, officers, employees, incorporators, stockholders or agents

The indenture provides that none of our past, present or future directors, officers, employees, incorporators, stockholders or agents in their capacity as such will have any liability for any of our obligations under the debt securities of any series or the indenture. Each holder of debt securities of any series by accepting a debt security waives and releases all such liability. The waiver and release are part of the consideration for issuance of the debt securities. The waiver may not be effective to waive liabilities under the federal securities laws and it is the view of the SEC that such a waiver is against public policy.

## Governing law

The indenture and debt securities of each series are governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York.

## **Additional Provisions Applicable to Subordinated Debt Securities**

#### General

The subordinated debt securities will be our unsecured obligations under the subordinated indenture and will be subordinate in right of payment to certain other indebtedness as described below under Subordination of Subordinated Debt Securities or in the applicable prospectus supplement. The subordinated debt securities will be effectively subordinated to all of our secured debt, to the extent of the value of the assets securing that debt.

Subordination of Subordinated Debt Securities

Payments on the subordinated debt securities will, as described in the applicable prospectus supplement, be subordinated in right of payment to the prior payment in full, in cash or cash equivalents, of all of our existing and future senior debt. As a result, the subordinated debt securities will be contractually subordinated to all of our senior debt and effectively subordinated to all debt and other obligations of our subsidiaries.

Senior debt is defined in the subordinated indenture as, with respect to any person (as defined in the subordinated indenture), the principal of (and premium, if any) and interest on any indebtedness, whether outstanding at the date of

the subordinated indenture or thereafter created or incurred, which is for:

money borrowed by such person;

securities, notes, debentures, bonds or other similar instruments issued by such person;

20

obligations of such person evidencing the purchase price of property by such person or a subsidiary of such person, all conditional sale obligations of such person and all obligations of such person under any conditional sale or title retention agreement other than trade accounts payable in the ordinary course of business;

obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such person in respect of any letters of credit, bankers acceptance, security purchase facilities or similar credit transactions;

obligations in respect of interest rate swap, cap or other agreements, interest rate future or option contracts, currency swap agreements, currency future or option contracts and other similar agreements;

obligations in respect of any factoring, securitization, sale of receivables or similar transaction;

money borrowed by or obligations described in the six preceding bullet points of others and assumed or guaranteed by such person;

obligations under performance guarantees, support agreements and other agreements in the nature thereof relating to the obligations of any subsidiary of such person;

renewals, extensions, refundings, amendments and modifications of any indebtedness of the kind described in the eight preceding bullet points or of the instruments creating or evidencing the indebtedness, unless, in each case, by the terms of the instrument creating or evidencing the indebtedness or the renewal, extension, refunding, amendment and modification, it is provided that the indebtedness is not senior in right of payment to the subordinated debt securities; and

obligations of the type referred to in the preceding bullet points of others secured by a lien on the property or asset of such person.

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable prospectus supplement for a particular series of subordinated debt securities, in the event of any distribution of our assets upon dissolution, winding up, liquidation or reorganization, the holders of senior debt shall first be paid in full in respect of principal, premium (if any) and interest before any such payments are made on account of the subordinated debt securities. In addition, in the event that (1) the subordinated debt securities are declared due and payable because of an event of default (other than under the circumstances described in the preceding sentence) and (2) any default has occurred and is continuing in the payment of principal, premium (if any), sinking funds or interest on any senior debt, then no payment shall be made on account of principal, premium (if any), sinking funds or interest on the subordinated debt securities until all such payments due in respect of the senior debt have been paid in full.

By reason of the subordination provisions described above, in the event of liquidation or insolvency, any of our creditors who are not holders of senior debt may recover less, ratably, than holders of senior debt and may recover more, ratably, than holders of the subordinated debt securities.

## Deferral of Interest Payments

The terms upon which we may defer payments of interest on subordinated debt securities of any series will be set forth in the relevant prospectus supplement and, to the extent necessary, in the supplemental indenture relating to that series. If any such terms are provided for, an interest payment properly deferred will not constitute a default in the payment of interest.

## **Description of Depositary Shares**

We may issue fractional interests in common shares or preference shares, rather than common shares or preference shares, with those rights and subject to the terms and conditions that we may specify in a related prospectus supplement. If we do so, we will provide for a depositary (either a bank or trust company depositary that has its principal office in the United States) to issue receipts for depositary shares, each of which will

21

represent a fractional interest in a common share or a preference share. The common shares or preference shares underlying the depositary shares will be deposited under a deposit agreement between us and the depositary. The prospectus supplement will include the name and address of the depositary.

#### **Description of Warrants**

We may issue warrants, including warrants to purchase debt securities, common shares, preference shares or other securities, property or assets (including rights to receive payment in cash or securities based on the value, rate or price of one or more specified commodities, currencies, securities or indices) as well as other types of warrants. We may issue warrants independently or together with any other securities, and they may be attached to or separate from those securities. We will issue the warrants under warrant agreements to be entered into between us and a bank or trust company, as warrant agent, that we will describe in the prospectus supplement relating to the warrants that we offer. The warrant agent will act solely as our agent in connection with the warrants and will not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any holders or beneficial owners of warrants.

The prospectus supplement relating to any warrants that we may offer will contain the specific terms of the warrants. These terms will include some or all of the following:

the title of the warrants;

the securities, which may include debt securities, common shares, preference shares or other securities, property or assets for which you may exercise the warrants;

the price or prices at which the warrants will be issued;

the number or principal amount of securities or amount of other property or assets that you may purchase upon exercise of each warrant;

the currency, currencies, or currency units, if other than in U.S. dollars, in which the warrants are to be issued or for which the warrants may be exercised;

the procedures and conditions relating to the exercise of the warrants;

the designation, amount and terms of the securities for which the warrants are exercisable;

the designation and terms of the other securities, if any, with which the warrants are to be issued and the number of warrants issued with each other security;

the aggregate number of warrants;

any provisions for adjustment of the number or amount of securities, property or assets receivable upon exercise of the warrants or the exercise price of the warrants;

the price or prices at which the securities, property or assets purchasable upon exercise of the warrants may be purchased;

the date on and after which the warrants and the securities, property or assets purchasable upon exercise of the warrants will be separately transferable, if applicable;

a discussion of any material U.S. federal income tax or Canadian federal or provincial income tax considerations applicable to the exercise of the warrants;

the date on which the right to exercise the warrants will commence, and the date on which the right will expire;

the maximum or minimum number of warrants that may be exercised at any time;

information with respect to book-entry procedures, if any; and

any other terms of the warrants, including terms, procedures and limitations relating to the exchange and exercise of the warrants.

22

We will also describe in the applicable prospectus supplement any provisions for a change in the exercise price or expiration date of the warrants and the kind, frequency and timing of any notice to be given. You may exchange warrant certificates for new warrant certificates of different denominations and may exercise warrants at the corporate trust office of the warrant agent or any other office that we indicate in the applicable prospectus supplement. Prior to exercise, you will not have any of the rights of holders of the debt securities, common shares, preference shares or other securities purchasable upon that exercise.

## **Description of Purchase Contracts**

We may issue purchase contracts, including contracts obligating holders to purchase from us and us to sell to the holders, a specified number of common shares, preference shares or depositary shares at a future date or dates. Alternatively, the purchase contracts may obligate us to purchase from holders, and obligate holders to sell to us, a specified or varying number of common shares, preference shares or depositary shares. The consideration per common share or preference share or per depositary share may be fixed at the time the purchase contracts are issued or may be determined by a specific reference to a formula set forth in the purchase contracts. The purchase contracts may provide for settlement by delivery by us or on our behalf of shares of the underlying security, or they may provide for settlement by reference or linkage to the value, performance or trading price of the underlying security. The purchase contracts may be issued separately or as part of purchase units consisting of a purchase contract and debt securities, preference shares or debt obligations of third parties, including U.S. treasury securities, other purchase contracts or common shares, or other securities or property, securing the holders obligations to purchase or sell, as the case may be, the common shares, preference shares, depositary shares or other security or property under the purchase contracts. The purchase contracts may require us to make periodic payments to the holders thereof or vice versa, and these payments may be unsecured or prefunded on some basis and may be paid on a current or on a deferred basis. The purchase contracts may require holders to secure their obligations thereunder in a specified manner and may provide for the prepayment of all or part of the consideration payable by holders in connection with the purchase of the underlying security or other property pursuant to the purchase contracts.

The securities related to the purchase contracts may be pledged to a collateral agent for our benefit pursuant to a pledge agreement to secure the obligations of holders of purchase contracts to purchase the underlying security or property under the related purchase contracts. The rights of holders of purchase contracts to the related pledged securities will be subject to our security interest therein created by the pledge agreement. No holder of purchase contracts will be permitted to withdraw the pledged securities related to such purchase contracts from the pledge arrangement.

The prospectus supplement relating to any purchase contracts that we may offer will contain the specific terms of the purchase contracts.

## **Description of Units**

We may issue units consisting of one or more purchase contracts, warrants, debt securities, preference shares, common shares, subscription receipts or any combination of such of our securities (but not securities of third parties), as specified in a related prospectus supplement.

## **Description of Subscription Receipts**

We may issue subscription receipts to purchase debt or equity securities, subject to compliance with applicable law. Each subscription receipt will entitle the holder to purchase for cash the amount of debt or equity securities at the exercise price stated or determinable in the applicable prospectus supplement for the subscription receipts. We may

issue subscription receipts independently or together with any offered securities. The subscription receipts may be attached to or separate from those offered securities. We will issue the subscription

receipts under subscription receipt agreements to be entered into between us and a bank or trust company, as subscription receipt agent, all as described in the applicable prospectus supplement. The subscription receipt agent will act solely as our agent in connection with the subscription receipts and will not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any holders or beneficial owners of subscription receipts.

The prospectus supplement relating to any subscription receipts that we may offer will contain the specific terms of the subscription receipts.

24

## PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We or any selling securityholders may sell any combination of the securities covered by this prospectus in any of the following three ways (or in any combination of the following three ways):

to or through underwriters or dealers;

directly to a limited number of purchasers or to a single purchaser; or

through agents.

We or any selling securityholders may enter into derivative transactions with third parties, or sell securities not covered by this prospectus to third parties in privately negotiated transactions. If the applicable prospectus supplement so indicates, in connection with those derivatives, the third parties may sell securities covered by this prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement, including in short sale transactions. If so, the third party may use securities pledged by us or any selling securityholders or borrowed from us, any selling securityholders or others to settle those sales or to close out any related open borrowings of stock and may use securities received from us or any selling securityholders in settlement of those derivatives to close out any related open borrowings of stock. The third party in such sale transactions will be an underwriter and, if not identified in this prospectus, will be identified in the applicable prospectus supplement (or a post-effective amendment to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part).

The applicable prospectus supplement will set forth the terms of the offering of the securities covered by this prospectus, including:

the name or names of any underwriters, dealers or agents and the amounts of securities underwritten or purchased by each of them;

the names of any selling securityholders;

the initial public offering price of the securities and the proceeds to us or any selling securityholders and any discounts, commissions or concessions allowed or reallowed or paid to dealers; and

any securities exchanges on which the securities may be listed.

Any initial public offering price and any discounts or concessions allowed or reallowed or paid to dealers may be changed from time to time.

Underwriters or the third parties described above may offer and sell the offered securities from time to time in one or more transactions, including negotiated transactions, at a fixed public offering price or at varying prices determined at

the time of sale. If we or any selling securityholders use underwriters in the sale of any securities, the securities will be acquired by the underwriters for their own account and may be resold from time to time in one or more transactions described above. The securities may be offered to the public either through underwriting syndicates represented by managing underwriters or directly by underwriters. Generally, the underwriters obligations to purchase the securities will be subject to customary conditions. The underwriters will be obligated to purchase all of the offered securities if they purchase any of the offered securities.

We or any selling securityholders may sell the securities through agents from time to time. The applicable prospectus supplement will name any agent involved in the offer or sale of the securities and any commissions we or any selling securityholders pay to them. Generally, any agent will be acting on a best efforts basis for the period of its appointment.

We may authorize underwriters, dealers or agents to solicit offers by certain purchasers to purchase the securities from us at the public offering price set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement pursuant to delayed delivery contracts providing for payment and delivery on a specified date in the future. The contracts will be subject only to those conditions set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement, and the applicable prospectus supplement will set forth any commissions we pay for solicitation of these contracts.

25

Certain persons participating in this offering may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of the securities. Specifically, in connection with underwritten offerings of the offered securities and in accordance with applicable law and industry practice, the underwriters may over-allot and may bid for, and purchase, the securities in the open market.

Agents, underwriters and other third parties described above that participate in the distribution of the offered securities may be underwriters as defined in the Securities Act, and any discounts or commissions they receive from us or any selling securityholders and any profit on their resale of the securities may be treated as underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act. We or any selling securityholders may have agreements with the agents, underwriters and those other third parties to indemnify them against specified civil liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act or Canadian securities legislation, or to contribute to payments they may be required to make in respect of those liabilities. Agents, underwriters and those other third parties may engage in transactions with or perform services for us in the ordinary course of their businesses.

To comply with applicable state securities laws, the securities offered by this prospectus will be sold, if necessary, in such jurisdictions only through registered or licensed brokers or dealers. In addition, securities may not be sold in some states absent registration or pursuant to an exemption from applicable state securities laws.

Each issue of preference shares, debt securities, depositary shares, warrants, purchase contracts, units and subscription receipts will be a new issue of securities with no established trading market. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable prospectus supplement, such securities will not be listed on any securities exchange or on any automated dealer quotation system. Certain broker-dealers may make a market in such securities but will not be obligated to do so and may discontinue any market making at any time without notice. No assurance can be given that any broker-dealer will make a market in such securities or as to the liquidity of the trading market for such securities.

#### SERVICE OF PROCESS AND ENFORCEABILITY OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

We are a Canadian company. Some of our directors and executive officers live outside the United States. Some of the assets of our directors and executive officers and some of our assets are located outside the United States. As a result, it may be difficult or impossible to serve process on us or on such persons in the United States or to obtain or enforce judgments obtained in U.S. courts or Canadian courts against them or us based on the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the United States. There is doubt as to whether Canadian courts would enforce the civil liability claims brought under U.S. federal securities laws in original actions and/or enforce claims for punitive damages.

## **VALIDITY OF THE SECURITIES**

The validity of the securities in respect of which this prospectus is being delivered will be passed upon for OpenText by Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP, Toronto, Ontario, with respect to matters of Canadian law, and Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP, New York, New York, with respect to matters of U.S. law. The partners and associates of Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP beneficially own, directly or indirectly, less than one percent of all outstanding common shares of the Company. The partners, counsel and associates of Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP beneficially own, directly or indirectly, less than one percent of all outstanding common shares of the Company. Except as may be specified in any applicable prospectus supplement, certain legal matters in connection with the securities offered hereby will be passed upon for any underwriters or agents, as the case may be, by Torys LLP, Toronto, Ontario, and Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP, New York, New York.

#### **EXPERTS**

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as of June 30, 2013 and 2012, and for each of the years in the three-year period ended June 30, 2013, and management s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company s internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2013, have been incorporated by reference herein from the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended June 30, 2013 dated February 12, 2014 in reliance upon the reports therein of KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, also incorporated by reference herein from the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended June 30, 2013 dated February 12, 2014, and upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

The consolidated balance sheets of GXS Group, Inc. as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockholders—deficit and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2013, have been incorporated by reference herein from OpenText—s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed with the SEC on April 2, 2014, in reliance upon the report of KPMG LLP, independent auditors, incorporated by reference herein, and upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

#### AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The auditors of the Company are KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.

The transfer agent and registrar for the common shares is Computershare Investor Services Inc. at its principal office in Toronto, Ontario, Canada.

27

## WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, and other information with the SEC and with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities. Our SEC filings are available to the public over the Internet at the SEC s website at http://www.sec.gov. The documents that we have filed with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities are available to the public over the Internet at http://www.sedar.com. Please note that the SEC s website and the website containing Canadian securities regulatory filings are included in this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement as inactive textual references only. The information contained on such websites is not incorporated by reference into this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement and should not be considered to be part of this prospectus or any applicable prospectus supplement, except as described in the following paragraph. You may also read and copy any document we file with the SEC at its public reference facility at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the Public Reference Room.

#### DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

We incorporate by reference into this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement certain information we file with the SEC, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is an important part of this prospectus. Certain information that we subsequently file with the SEC will automatically update and supersede information in this prospectus and in our other filings with the SEC. We incorporate by reference the documents listed below, which we have already filed with the SEC and any future filings we make with the SEC under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, until all securities offered by this prospectus have been sold and all conditions to the consummation of such sales have been satisfied, except that we are not incorporating any information included in a Current Report on Form 8-K that has been or will be furnished (and not filed) with the SEC, unless such information is expressly incorporated herein by a reference in a furnished Current Report on Form 8-K or other furnished document:

our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 filed with the SEC on August 1, 2013 (as amended by Form 10-K/A on February 12, 2014);

our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2013 filed with the SEC on October 31, 2013;

our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2013 filed with the SEC on January 23, 2014;

our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 filed with the SEC on April 24, 2014;

our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 31, 2013 (excluding Item 2.02 and Exhibit 99.1), September 26, 2013, October 30, 2013 (excluding Item 2.02 and Exhibit 99.1), November 5, 2013 (excluding Item 7.01 and Exhibit 99.1) (as amended by Form 8-K/A on November 6, 2013), November 20, 2013, December 20, 2013, January 16, 2014 (excluding Item 7.01 and Exhibit 99.1)(as amended by Form 8-K/A on April 2, 2014), January 23, 2014 (excluding Item 2.02 and Exhibit 99.1), February 5, 2014 and April 24, 2014; and

the description of OpenText securities contained in OpenText s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 24, 2014.

Any statement contained in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded, for purposes of this prospectus, to the extent that a statement contained herein or in any other subsequently filed document which also is, or is deemed to be, incorporated by reference herein modifies or supersedes such prior statement. The modifying or superseding statement need not state that it has modified or superseded a prior statement or include any other information set forth in the document that it modifies or supersedes. The making of a modifying or superseding statement shall not be deemed an admission for any purposes that the modified or superseded statement, when made, constituted a

misrepresentation, an untrue statement of a material fact or an omission to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. Any statement so modified or superseded thereafter shall not constitute a part of this prospectus, except as so modified or superseded.

We will provide to each person, including any beneficial owner, to whom a prospectus is delivered, without charge upon written or oral request, a copy of any or all of the documents that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus but not delivered with this prospectus. You may request a copy of these filings by writing or calling us at the following address: 275 Frank Tompa Drive, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada N2L 0A1, Telephone: (519) 888-7111, Attention: Corporate Secretary. Our website is http://www.opentext.com. Our website is included in this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement as an inactive textual reference only. Except for the documents specifically incorporated by reference into this prospectus, information contained on our website is not incorporated by reference into this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement and should not be considered to be a part of this prospectus or any applicable prospectus supplement.

#### [ALTERNATE PAGE FOR CANADIAN PROSPECTUS]

A copy of this preliminary short form prospectus has been filed with the securities regulatory authorities in each of the provinces of Canada, other than Québec, but has not yet become final for the purpose of the sale of securities. Information contained in this preliminary short form prospectus may not be complete and may have to be amended. The securities may not be sold until a receipt for the short form prospectus is obtained from the securities regulatory authorities.

This short form prospectus is a base shelf prospectus. This short form prospectus has been filed under legislation in each of the provinces of Canada, other than Québec, that permits certain information about these securities to be determined after this short form prospectus has become final and that permits the omission from this short form prospectus of that information. The legislation requires the delivery to purchasers of a prospectus supplement containing the omitted information within a specified period of time after agreeing to purchase any of these securities.

No securities regulatory authority has expressed an opinion about these securities and it is an offence to claim otherwise. This short form prospectus constitutes a public offering of these securities only in those jurisdictions where they may be lawfully offered for sale and therein only by persons permitted to sell such securities.

We have filed a registration statement on Form S-3 with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, with respect to these securities.

Information has been incorporated by reference in this short form prospectus from documents filed with the securities commissions or similar authorities in Canada. Copies of the documents incorporated herein by reference may be obtained on request without charge from the Corporate Secretary of Open Text Corporation at 275 Frank Tompa Drive, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada N2L 0A1 (telephone (519) 888-711), and are also available electronically at www.sedar.com.

#### PRELIMINARY SHORT FORM BASE SHELF PROSPECTUS

New Issue and Secondary Offering

April 24, 2014

# **OPEN TEXT CORPORATION**

U.S. \$350,000,000

**Common Shares** 

**Preference Shares** 

**Debt Securities** 

**Depositary Shares** 

Warrants

**Purchase Contracts** 

## Units

# **Subscription Receipts**

Open Text Corporation ( we , Open Text or the Company ) or our securityholders may from time to time offer and issue or sell, as applicable, the following securities: (i) common shares; (ii) preference shares; (iii) debt securities; (iv) depositary shares; (v) warrants; (vi) purchase contracts; (vii) units; and (viii) subscription receipts, at an aggregate offering price of up to U.S. \$350,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency used to denominate the securities at the time of the offering) at any time during the 25-month period that this prospectus, including any amendments hereto, remains valid. These securities may be offered separately or together in amounts, at prices and on terms to be set forth in one or more prospectus supplements.

All shelf information omitted from this prospectus will be contained in one or more prospectus supplements that will be delivered to purchasers together with this prospectus. The specific terms of the securities in respect of which this prospectus is being delivered will be set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement. A prospectus supplement may include specific variable terms pertaining to the securities that are not within the alternatives and parameters described in this prospectus. Each prospectus supplement will be incorporated by reference into this prospectus for the purposes of securities legislation as of the date of the prospectus supplement and only for the purposes of the distribution of the securities to which the prospectus supplement pertains.

#### [ALTERNATE PAGE FOR CANADIAN PROSPECTUS]

We or any selling securityholders may sell the securities to or through underwriters or dealers purchasing as principals, and may also sell the securities to one or more purchasers directly pursuant to applicable statutory exemptions or through agents. The prospectus supplement relating to a particular offering of securities will set out the name of each underwriter, dealer or agent involved in the sale of the securities and will set forth the terms of the offering of such securities, the method of distribution of such securities, including, to the extent applicable, the proceeds to us and any selling securityholders, as applicable, and any fees, discounts or any other compensation payable to underwriters, dealers or agents and any other material terms of the plan of distribution. See Plan of Distribution .

In connection with any offering of securities under this prospectus (unless otherwise specified in a prospectus supplement), the underwriters, dealers or agents may over-allot or effect transactions intended to stabilize or maintain the market price of the securities offered at a higher level than that which might otherwise prevail in the open market. Such transactions, if commenced, may be interrupted or discontinued at any time. See Plan of Distribution .

Our common shares are listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market (the NASDAQ ) under the symbol OTEX and on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the TSX ) under the symbol OTC . On April 23, 2014, the closing price per share of our common shares was U.S.\$46.13 on the NASDAQ and Cdn.\$50.81 on the TSX.

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable prospectus supplement, the securities in respect of which this prospectus is being delivered, other than our common shares, will not be listed on any securities exchange. Accordingly, unless so specified, there will be no market through which these securities may be sold and purchasers may not be able to resell such securities purchased under this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement. This may affect the pricing of such securities in the secondary market, the transparency and availability of trading prices, the liquidity of such securities and the extent of issuer regulation. See Risk Factors in the applicable prospectus supplement.

Investing in the offered securities involves risks. You should read the section entitled Risk Factors on page 3 and carefully consider the discussion of risks and uncertainties under the heading Risk Factors contained in any applicable prospectus supplement and in the documents that are incorporated by reference.

Owning our securities may subject you to tax consequences both in Canada and the United States. Such tax consequences are not described in this prospectus and may not be fully described in any applicable prospectus supplement. You should read the tax discussion in any prospectus supplement with respect to a particular offering and consult your own tax advisor with respect to your own particular circumstances.

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, the presentation of financial statements may vary in a material way from financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

No underwriter has been involved in the preparation of this prospectus or performed any review of the contents of this prospectus.

Gail E. Hamilton and Brian J. Jackman, each a director of the Company, reside outside of Canada and have appointed Open Text Corporation, 275 Frank Tompa Drive, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada N2L 0A1, as agent for service of process. Investors are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in Canada against any person or company that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or resides outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of process.

The head and registered office of the Company is located at 275 Frank Tompa Drive, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada N2L0A1.

## [ALTERNATE PAGE FOR CANADIAN PROSPECTUS]

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Notice to United States Investors	1
About This Prospectus	1
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements	1
Open Text Corporation	3
Risk Factors	3
<u>Use of Proceeds</u>	3
Ratio of Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preference Dividends	4
Supplemental Canadian Disclosure	5
<u>Description of Securities</u>	8
<u>Description of Common Shares</u>	8
<u>Description of Preference Shares</u>	9
<u>Description of Debt Securities</u>	10
<u>Description of Depositary Shares</u>	21
Description of Warrants	22
Description of Purchase Contracts	23
<u>Description of Units</u>	23
<u>Description of Subscription Receipts</u>	23
Plan of Distribution	25
Service of Process and Enforceability of Civil Liabilities	27
<u>Validity of the Securities</u>	27
<u>Experts</u>	27
Auditors, Transfer Agent and Registrar	27
Where You Can Find More Information	28
Documents Incorporated by Reference	29
<u>Purchasers</u> Statutory and Contractual Rights	31
Certificate of the Company	C-1

We and any selling securityholders are responsible for the information contained and incorporated by reference in this prospectus and any prospectus supplement. Neither we nor any selling securityholders have authorized anyone to give you any other information, and we or any selling securityholders take no responsibility for any other information that others may give you. We and any selling securityholders are not making an offer to sell these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. You should not assume that the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus or any prospectus supplement is accurate as of any date other than the date of the document containing the information.

## [ALTERNATE PAGE FOR CANADIAN PROSPECTUS]

#### DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

We incorporate by reference into this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement certain information we file with the Canadian securities regulators, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is an important part of this prospectus. Certain information that we subsequently file with the Canadian securities regulators will automatically update and supersede information in this prospectus and in our other filings with the Canadian securities regulators. We incorporate by reference the documents listed below, which we have already filed with Canadian securities regulators, which documents form an integral part of this prospectus:

our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 filed with the Canadian securities regulators on August 1, 2013 (as amended by Form 10-K/A on February 12, 2014);

our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2013 filed with the Canadian securities regulators on October 31, 2013;

our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2013 filed with the Canadian securities regulators on January 23, 2014;

our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 filed with the Canadian securities regulators on April 24, 2014;

our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the Canadian securities regulators on August 1, 2013 (excluding Item 2.02 and Exhibit 99.1), September 26, 2013, October 30, 2013 (excluding Item 2.02 and Exhibit 99.1), November 5, 2013 (excluding Item 7.01 and Exhibit 99.1) (as amended by Form 8-K/A on November 6, 2013), November 20, 2013, December 20, 2013, January 16, 2014 (excluding Item 7.01 and Exhibit 99.1) (as amended by Form 8-K/A on April 2, 2014), January 23, 2014 (excluding Item 2.02 and Exhibit 99.1) and February 5, 2014;

our Proxy Circular filed with the Canadian securities regulators on September 4, 2013;

our Business Acquisition Report filed with the Canadian securities regulators on April 9, 2014 (regarding our acquisition of GXS Group, Inc.);

our Material Change Reports filed with the Canadian securities regulators on November 8, 2013 (regarding our acquisition of GXS Group, Inc.), January 23, 2014 (regarding our acquisition of GXS Group, Inc.) and January 28, 2014 (regarding a stock dividend); and

the description of OpenText securities contained in OpenText s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Canadian securities regulators on April 24, 2014.

We also deem to be incorporated by reference into this prospectus any future filings we make with the Canadian securities regulators (other than confidential material change reports and press releases (except press releases deemed or stated to be incorporated by reference herein)), with respect to the Company, all updated earnings coverage ratio information, as well as all prospectus supplements disclosing additional or updated information, filed by us subsequent to the date of this prospectus, until all the securities offered by this prospectus have been sold and all conditions to the consummation of such sales have been satisfied, except that we are not incorporating any information included in a Current Report on Form 8-K that has been or will be furnished (and not filed) with the SEC and not filed with the Canadian securities regulators, unless such information is expressly incorporated herein by a reference in a furnished Current Report on Form 8-K or other furnished document and is filed with the Canadian securities regulators.

## [ALTERNATE PAGE FOR CANADIAN PROSPECTUS]

When a new Annual Report on Form 10-K (which also constitutes an annual information form for the purposes of Canadian securities law) is filed by us with the Canadian securities regulators during the currency of this prospectus, the previous Annual Report on Form 10-K and the annual consolidated financial statements and related management s discussion and analysis for the previous fiscal year, and all Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, interim consolidated financial statements and related management s discussion and analysis, material change reports and information circulars (other than our management information circular prepared in connection with our annual meeting of holders of common shares) filed prior to the commencement of the then current fiscal year will be deemed no longer to be incorporated by reference into this prospectus for purposes of future offers and sales of securities under this prospectus. When a new management information circular prepared in connection with our annual meeting of holders of common shares is filed by us with the Canadian securities regulators during the currency of this prospectus, the previous management information circular prepared in connection with an annual meeting of the Company shall be deemed no longer to be incorporated by reference into this prospectus for purposes of future offers and sales of securities under this prospectus.

Any template version of any marketing materials (as such term is defined in National Instrument 41-101 *General Prospectus Requirements*) filed after the date of a prospectus supplement and before the termination of the distribution of the securities offered pursuant to such prospectus supplement (together with this prospectus) is deemed to be incorporated by reference in such prospectus supplement.

A prospectus supplement containing the specific variable terms of an offering of securities will be delivered to purchasers of such securities together with this prospectus and will be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this prospectus as of the date of such prospectus supplement but only for the purposes of the offering of the securities covered by that prospectus supplement.

Any statement contained in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded, for purposes of this prospectus, to the extent that a statement contained herein or in any other subsequently filed document which also is, or is deemed to be, incorporated by reference herein modifies or supersedes such prior statement. The modifying or superseding statement need not state that it has modified or superseded a prior statement or include any other information set forth in the document that it modifies or supersedes. The making of a modifying or superseding statement shall not be deemed an admission for any purposes that the modified or superseded statement, when made, constituted a misrepresentation, an untrue statement of a material fact or an omission to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. Any statement so modified or superseded thereafter shall not constitute a part of this prospectus, except as so modified or superseded.

We will provide to each person, including any beneficial owner, to whom a prospectus is delivered, without charge upon written or oral request, a copy of any or all of the documents that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus but not delivered with this prospectus. You may request a copy of these filings by writing or calling us at the following address: 275 Frank Tompa Drive, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada N2L 0A1, Telephone: (519) 888-7111, Attention: Corporate Secretary. Our website is http://www.opentext.com. Copies of the documents that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus are also available electronically at www.sedar.com. Our website is included in this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement as an inactive textual reference only. Except for the documents specifically incorporated by reference into this prospectus or any applicable prospectus supplement, information contained on our website is not incorporated by reference into this prospectus and applicable prospectus supplement and should not be considered to be a part of this prospectus or applicable prospectus supplement.

## [ADDITIONAL PAGE FOR CANADIAN PROSPECTUS]

#### EARNINGS COVERAGE RATIOS

Earnings coverage ratios will be provided in the prospectus supplement with respect to the issuance of securities pursuant to such prospectus supplement.

#### PURCHASERS STATUTORY AND CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces of Canada provides purchasers with the right to withdraw from an agreement to purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two business days after receipt or deemed receipt of a prospectus and any amendment. In several of the provinces, the securities legislation further provides a purchaser with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, revision of the price or damages if the prospectus and any amendment contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that the remedies for rescission, revision of the price or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser s province. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser s province for the particulars of these rights or consult with a legal adviser.

In addition, original purchasers of Subscription Receipts, Warrants (unless the Warrants are reasonably regarded by the Company as incidental to the applicable offering as a whole) or convertible or exchangeable Debt Securities (or Units comprised partly thereof) will have a contractual right of rescission against the Company in respect of the conversion, exchange or exercise of the Subscription Receipt, Warrant or the convertible or exchangeable Debt Security. The contractual right of rescission will be further described in any applicable prospectus supplement, but will, in general, entitle such original purchasers to receive the amount paid for the applicable convertible, exchangeable or exercisable security upon surrender of the underlying securities acquired thereby, in the event that this prospectus (as supplemented or amended) contains a misrepresentation, provided that: (i) the conversion, exchange or exercise takes place within 180 days of the date of the purchase of the convertible, exchangeable or exercisable security under this prospectus; and (ii) the right of rescission is exercised within 180 days of the date of the purchase of the convertible, exchangeable or exercisable security under this prospectus.

In an offering of Subscription Receipts, Warrants or convertible or exchangeable Debt Securities (or Units comprised partly thereof), investors are cautioned that the statutory right of action for damages for a misrepresentation contained in the prospectus is limited, in certain provincial securities legislation, to the price at which Subscription Receipts, Warrants or convertible or exchangeable Debt Securities (or Units comprised partly thereof) are offered to the public under the prospectus offering. This means that, under the securities legislation of certain provinces, if the purchaser pays additional amounts upon the conversion, exchange or exercise of the security, those amounts may not be recoverable under the statutory right of action for damages that applies in those provinces. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser s province for the particulars of this right of action for damages or consult with a legal adviser.

## [ADDITIONAL PAGE FOR CANADIAN PROSPECTUS]

#### CERTIFICATE OF THE COMPANY

Dated: April 24, 2014

This short form prospectus, together with the documents incorporated in this prospectus by reference, will, as of the date of the last supplement to this prospectus relating to the securities offered by this prospectus and the supplement(s), constitute full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities offered by this prospectus and the supplement(s) as required by the securities legislation of each of the provinces of Canada, other than Québec.

(signed) Mark J. Barrenechea Chief Executive Officer (signed) Paul McFeeters Chief Financial Officer

On behalf of the Board of Directors

(signed) P. Thomas Jenkins
Director

(signed) Randy Fowlie
Director

C-1

#### **PART II**

## INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

## Item 14. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution.

The following table sets forth the various expenses payable by the registrant in connection with the securities being registered hereby. Except as otherwise noted, all of the fees set forth below are estimates.

Filing Fee for Registration Statement	\$ (1)
Legal Fees and Expenses	(2)
Accounting Fees and Expenses	(2)
Trustee s Fees and Expenses (including counsel fees)	(2)
Printing and Engraving Fees	(2)
Rating Agency Fees	(2)
Miscellaneous	(2)
Total	\$ (2)

- (1) Deferred in accordance with Rules 456(b) and 457(r) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act ).
- (2) An estimate of the aggregate amount of these expenses will be reflected in the applicable prospectus supplement. In connection with any offering by any selling securityholders under this registration statement, all or a portion of the foregoing expenses may be paid by the registrant, except the selling securityholders will pay any applicable discounts and commissions, as described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

### Item 15. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

Under the Canada Business Corporations Act ( CBCA ), the Registrant may indemnify a present or former director or officer of the Registrant or another individual who acts or acted at the Registrant s request as a director or officer, or an individual acting in a similar capacity, of another entity, against all costs, charges and expenses, including an amount paid to settle an action or satisfy a judgment, reasonably incurred by the individual in respect of any civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or other proceeding in which the individual is involved because of that association with the Registrant or another entity. The Registrant may not indemnify an individual unless the individual acted honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Registrant, or, as the case may be, to the best interests of the other entity for which the individual acted as director or officer or in a similar capacity at the Registrant s request and in the case of a criminal or administrative action or proceeding that is enforced by a monetary penalty, the individual had reasonable grounds for believing that the individual s conduct was lawful. The aforementioned individuals are entitled to indemnification from the Registrant as a matter of right if they were not judged by the court or other competent authority to have committed any fault or omitted to do anything that the individual ought to have done and acted in accordance with conditions set out above. The Registrant may advance moneys to the individual for the costs,

charges and expenses of a proceeding; however, the individual shall repay the moneys if the individual does not fulfill the conditions set out above. The indemnification and any advance of moneys by the Registrant may be made in connection with a derivative action only with court approval.

The by-laws of the Registrant provide that the Registrant may, subject to the limitations contained in the CBCA, purchase and maintain insurance for the benefit of any director, officer or certain other persons, as the board of directors of the Registrant may from time to time determine.

We have policies in force and effect that insure our directors and officers against losses which they or any of them will become legally obligated to pay by reason of any actual or alleged error or misstatement or misleading statement or act or omission or neglect or breach of duty by such directors and officers in the discharge of their duties, individually or collectively, or as a result of any matter claimed against them solely by reason of their being directors or officers. Such coverage is limited by the specific terms and provisions of the insurance policies.

II-1

The underwriters or agents on whose behalf the agreements listed as Exhibits 1.01 and 1.02 to this registration statement will be executed will agree in those agreements to indemnify directors and officers of the Registrant, and persons controlling the Registrant, within the meaning of the Securities Act, against certain liabilities that might arise out of or are based upon certain information furnished to the Registrant by any such underwriter or agent or to contribute to payments that may be required to be made in respect of these liabilities.

#### Item 16. Exhibits.

See the Exhibit Index, which follows the signature page to this registration statement and is herein incorporated by reference.

#### Item 17. Undertakings.

- (a) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:
- (1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:
- (i) To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act;
- (ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of this registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in this registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the Calculation of Registration Fee table in the effective registration statement; and
- (iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement;

provided, however, that paragraphs (a)(1)(i), (a)(1)(ii) and (a)(1)(iii) do not apply if the registration statement is on Form S-3 and the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in reports filed with or furnished to the Commission by the registrant pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act ), that are incorporated by reference in the registration statement, or is contained in a form of prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) that is part of the registration statement.

- (2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each such posteffective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.
- (3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.

- (4) That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act to any purchaser:
- (i) Each prospectus filed by the Registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of the registration statement as of the date the filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in the registration statement; and
- (ii) Each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5) or (b)(7) as part of the registration statement in reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i), (vii) or (x) for the purpose of providing the information required by Section 10(a) of the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of securities in the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a new effective date of the registration statement relating to the securities in the registration statement to which the prospectus relates, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof. *Provided, however*, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such effective date.

II-2

- (5) That, for the purpose of determining liability of the Registrant under the Securities Act to any purchaser in the initial distribution of the securities, the undersigned Registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned Registrant pursuant to this registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned Registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:
- (i) Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned Registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;
- (ii) Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned Registrant or used or referred to by the undersigned Registrant;
- (iii) The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned Registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned Registrant; and
- (iv) Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned Registrant to the purchaser.
- (b) The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each filing of the Registrant s annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan s annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.
- (c) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the Registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the Registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the Registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the Registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

II-3

#### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the Registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all the requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, on the 24th day of April, 2014.

#### OPEN TEXT CORPORATION

By: /S/ MARK BARRENECHEA
Mark Barrenechea
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS that each individual whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Mark J. Barrenechea, Paul McFeeters and Gordon A. Davies, and each of them, as such person s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for such person in such person s name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this Registration Statement, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and all documents or instruments necessary or incidental in connection therewith, with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully for all intents and purposes as such person might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or such persons substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated. This document may be executed in counterparts that when so executed shall constitute one registration statement, notwithstanding that all of the undersigned are not signatories to the original of the same counterpart.

Signatures	Title	Date
/S/ MARK BARRENECHEA (Mark Barrenechea)	President and Chief Executive Officer	April 24, 2014
(Marie Barrencenea)	(Principal Executive Officer)	
/S/ PAUL MCFEETERS (Paul McFeeters)	Chief Financial Officer and Chief Administrative Officer (Principal Financial Officer)	April 24, 2014

II-4

#### **Table of Contents Signatures** Title **Date** /S/ SUJEET KINI Chief Accounting Officer April 24, 2014 (Sujeet Kini) (Principal Accounting Officer) /S/ P. THOMAS JENKINS Chairman April 24, 2014 (P. Thomas Jenkins) /S/ RANDY FOWLIE Director April 24, 2014 (Randy Fowlie) /S/ GAIL E. HAMILTON Director April 24, 2014 (Gail E. Hamilton) BRIAN J. JACKMAN Director April 24, 2014 (Brian J. Jackman) /S/ STEPHEN J. SADLER Director April 24, 2014 (Stephen J. Sadler) /S/ MICHAEL SLAUNWHITE Director April 24, 2014 (Michael Slaunwhite) KATHARINE B. STEVENSON Director April 24, 2014 (Katharine B. Stevenson) /S/ DEBORAH WEINSTEIN Director April 24, 2014 (Deborah Weinstein) /S/ MUHI MAJZOUB Authorized Representative April 24, 2014 (Muhi Majzoub) in the United States

# **EXHIBIT INDEX**

EXHIBIT NUMBER	DESCRIPTION
1.1**	Form of Underwriting Agreement for non-convertible debt securities.
1.2**	Underwriting Agreement for common shares, preference shares, convertible debt securities, depositary shares, warrants, purchase contracts, units and subscription receipts.
2.1	Agreement and Plan of Merger between Open Text Corporation, Open Text Inc., Oasis Merger Corporation and Captaris Inc., dated September 3, 2008. (1)
2.2	Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of May 5, 2009 by and among Open Text Corporation, Scenic Merger Corporation and Vignette Corporation. (2)
2.3	Agreement and Plan of Merger between Open Text Corporation, EPIC Acquisition Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of OpenText, and EasyLink Services International Corporation dated May 1, 2012. (3)
2.4	Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 4, 2013, among Open Text Corporation, Ocelot Merger Sub, Inc., GXS Group, Inc. and the stockholders representative named therein. (4)
2.5	Support Agreement, dated as of November 4, 2013, among GXS Group, Inc., Open Text Corporation, and Global Acquisition LLC. (4)
2.6	Support Agreement, dated as of November 4, 2013, among GXS Group, Inc., Open Text Corporation, CCG Investment Fund, L.P., CCG Associates - QP, LLC, CCG Investment Fund - AI, LP, CCG AV, LLC - Series A, CCG AV, LLC - Series C and CCG CI, LLC. (4)
2.7	Support Agreement, dated as of November 4, 2013, among GXS Group, Inc., Open Text Corporation, and Cerberus America Series One Holdings LLC and Cerberus Series Two Holdings LLC. (4)
4.1	Articles of Amalgamation of the Company. (5)
4.2	Articles of Amendment of the Company. (5)
4.3	Articles of Amendment of the Company. (5)
4.4	Articles of Amalgamation of the Company. (5)
4.5	Articles of Amalgamation of the Company, dated July 1, 2001. (6)
4.6	Articles of Amalgamation of the Company, dated July 1, 2002. (7)
4.7	Articles of Amalgamation of the Company, dated July 1, 2003. (8)
4.8	Articles of Amalgamation of the Company, dated July 1, 2004. (9)
4.9	Articles of Amalgamation of the Company, dated July 1, 2005. (10)
4.10	Articles of Continuance of the Company, dated December 29, 2005. (11)
4.11	By-Law 1 of Open Text Corporation (12)
4.12	Form of Common Share Certificate of Open Text. (5)

4.13**	Form of Preference Share Certificate.
4.14*	Indenture, dated as of April 24, 2014, among Open Text Corporation, Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as trustee, and Computershare Trust Company of Canada, as co-trustee.
4.15*	Form of Subordinated Indenture.
4.16	Form of Debt Securities (included in Exhibit 4.14).
4.17	Form of Subordinated Debt Securities (included in Exhibit 4.15).
4.18**	Form of Depositary Share Agreement.
4.19**	Form of Depositary Certificate.
4.20**	Form of Warrant Agreement.
4.21**	Form of Warrant Certificate.
4.22**	Form of Purchase Contract Agreement.
4.23**	Form of Purchase Contract Certificate.
4.24**	Form of Unit Agreement.
4.25**	Form of Unit Certificate.
4.26**	Form of Subscription Receipt Agreement.
4.27**	Form of Subscription Receipt Certificate.
4.28	Amended and Restated Shareholder Rights Plan Agreement between Open Text Corporation and Computershare Investor Services, Inc., dated September 26, 2013. (12)
4.29	Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of November 4, 2013, by and among Open Text Corporation and the principal stockholders named therein, and for the benefit of the holders (as defined therein). (4)
4.30	Amended and Restated Credit Agreement among Open Text Corporation and certain of its subsidiaries, the Lenders (as defined therein), Barclays Bank PLC, Royal Bank of Canada, Barclays Capital and RBC Capital Markets, dated as of November 9, 2011. (13)
4.31	First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and Amended and Restated Security and Pledge Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2013, between Open Text ULC, as term borrower, Open Text ULC, Open Text Inc. and Open Text Corporation, as revolving credit borrowers, the domestic guarantors party thereto, each of the lenders party thereto, Barclays Bank PLC, as sole administrative agent and collateral agent, and Royal Bank of Canada, as documentary credit lender. (14)
4.32	Credit Agreement, dated as of January 16, 2014, among Open Text Corporation, as guarantor, Ocelot Merger Sub, Inc., which on January 16, 2014 merged with and into GXS Group, Inc. which survived such merger, as borrower, the other domestic guarantors party thereto, the lenders named therein, as lenders, Barclays Bank PLC, as sole administrative agent and collateral agent, and with Barclays and RBC Capital Markets, as lead arrangers and joint bookrunners. (15)
5.1*	Opinion of Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP.
5.2*	Opinion of Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP.
12.1	Statement of Computation of Ratios of Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preference Dividends.
23.1*	Consent of KPMG LLP (Toronto, Canada).

23.2*	Consent of KPMG LLP (McLean, Virginia).
23.3	Consent of Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1).
23.4	Consent of Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP (included in Exhibit 5.2).
24.1	Power of Attorney (included on the signature page of this Registration Statement)
25.1*	Form T-1 Statement of Eligibility under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, of the trustee for the senior debt securities.
25.2*	Form T-1 Statement of Eligibility under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, of the co-trustee for the senior debt securities.
25.3***	Form T-1 Statement of Eligibility under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, of the trustee for the subordinated debt securities.
25.4***	Form T-1 Statement of Eligibility under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, of the trustee for the subordinated debt securities.

#### \* Filed herewith.

- \*\* To be filed by post-effective amendment or pursuant to a Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference.
- \*\*\* To be filed in accordance with the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.
- (1) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on September 5, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference.
- (2) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on May 7, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.
- (3) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on July 3, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.
- (4) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Report on Form 8-K/A, as filed with the SEC on November 6, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
- (5) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Registration Statement on Form F-1 (Registration Number 33-98858) as filed with the SEC on November 1, 1995 or Amendments 1, 2 or 3 thereto (filed on December 28, 1995, January 22, 1996 and January 23, 1996, respectively), and incorporated herein by reference.
- (6) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed with the SEC on September 28, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference.
- (7) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed with the SEC on September 30, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference.
- (8) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed with the SEC on September 29, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.
- (9) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed with the SEC on September 13, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference.
- (10) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed with the SEC on September 27, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference.
- (11) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as filed with the SEC on February 3, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference.
- (12) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on September 26, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
- (13) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on November 9, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.
- (14) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on December 20, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.

(15) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company s Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on January 16, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference. FONT-SIZE: 10pt; FONT-FAMILY: 'Times New Roman', Times, serif; TEXT-ALIGN: center">N/A -0--0-Douglas R. Jamieson -0--0-N/A N/A 6,200(b)191,518 Kevin Handwerker -0--0-N/A N/A 1,000(c)30,890 Kieran Caterina -0--0-N/A N/A 5,500(d)169,895 Diane LaPointe -0-

Table of Contents 81

-0-

```
N/A
N/A
  5,000(e)
 154,450
Agnes Mullady
-0-
-0-
N/A
N/A
 16,300(f)
503,507
Bruce Alpert
-0-
-0-
N/A
N/A
  2,800(g)
 86,492
Henry Van der Eb
-0-
-0-
N/A
N/A
    700(h)
```

21,623

(a) On November 30, 2015, pursuant to the spin-off of Associated Capital which contained the Company's alternative investment management business, its institutional research services business and certain cash and other assets, our named executive officers, along with certain of the Company's other teammates, received shares of Associated Capital's Class A common stock as a result of their ownership of their GAMCO unvested restricted stock awards.

These GAMCO awards entitled them to the same benefits as holders of the Company's Class A Stock, which was one share of Associated Capital's Class A common stock for each share of GAMCO's Class A Stock. The vesting and other provisions of the Associated Capital awards that were received on the spin-off date are identical to those of the related GAMCO awards. The market value of the outstanding unvested GAMCO restricted stock awards on the above table is determined with reference to the \$30.89 per share closing price of GAMCO's Class A Stock on December 31, 2016 and is reflective of the transfer of value of that portion of the Company that was distributed to, and ascribed to the value of the stock of, Associated Capital. To reflect the full value as of December 31, 2016 of the awards that the named executive officers hold of both companies, the following notes to the above table include disclosure of the additional value attributable to the market value of the outstanding unvested stock awards of Associated Capital's Class A common stock and is determined with reference to the \$32.85 per share closing price of Associated Capital's Class A common stock on December 31, 2016.

28

- Mr. Jamieson's restricted stock awards will vest annually on August & of each of 2017 to 2023 as to 10% each of 6,000 shares, on September 15, 2017 as to 30% of 2,000 shares, and annually on September 15<sup>th</sup> of each of 2018 to 2024 as to 10% each of 2,000 shares, in accordance with the terms of his restricted stock award agreements. As discussed in note (a), the value of the GAMCO restricted stock awards in the above table is reflective of the transfer of value of that portion of the Company that was distributed to, and ascribed to the value of the stock of,
- Associated Capital. To reflect the full value as of December 31, 2016 of the awards that Mr. Jamieson holds of both companies, one needs to add the value of the GAMCO restricted stock awards at December 31, 2016 shown in the above table to the value of the 6,200 unvested stock awards of Associated Capital's Class A common stock which he held on that date. The market value of his Associated Capital unvested stock awards on December 31, 2016 was \$203,670 which is determined with reference to the \$32.85 per share closing price of Associated Capital's Class A common stock on that day. Therefore the total market value of his GAMCO and Associated Capital unvested stock awards on December 31, 2016 was \$395,188.
- (c) Mr. Handwerker's restricted stock awards will vest on September 15, 2017 as to 30% of 1,000 shares, and annually on September 15th of each of 2018 to 2024 as to 10% each of 1,000 shares, in accordance with the terms of his restricted stock award agreements. As discussed in note (a), the value of the GAMCO restricted stock awards in the above table is reflective of the transfer of value of that portion of the Company that was distributed to, and ascribed to the value of the stock of, Associated Capital. To reflect the full value as of December 31, 2016 of the awards that Mr. Handwerker holds of both companies, one needs to add the value of the GAMCO restricted stock awards at December 31, 2016 shown in the above table to the value of the 1,000 unvested stock awards of Associated Capital's Class A common stock which he held on that date. The market value of his Associated Capital unvested stock awards on December 31, 2016 was \$32,850 which is determined with reference to the \$32.85 per share closing price of Associated Capital's Class A common stock on that day. Therefore the total market value of his GAMCO and Associated Capital unvested stock awards on December 31, 2016 was \$63,740.
- (d) Mr. Caterina's restricted stock awards will vest annually on August & of each of 2017 to 2023 as to 10% each of 5,000 shares, on September 15, 2017 as to 30% of 1,000 shares, annually on September 15th of each of 2018 to 2024 as to 10% each of 1,000 shares, on January 15, 2018 as to 30% of 1,000 shares, and on January 15, 2020 as to 70% of 1,000 shares, in accordance with the terms of his restricted stock award agreements. As discussed in note (a), the value of the GAMCO restricted stock awards in the above table is reflective of the transfer of value of that portion of the Company that was distributed to, and ascribed to the value of the stock of, Associated Capital. To reflect the full value as of December 31, 2016 of the awards that Mr. Caterina holds of both companies, one needs to add the value of the GAMCO restricted stock awards at December 31, 2016 shown in the above table to the value of the 5,500 unvested stock awards of Associated Capital's Class A common stock which he held on that date. The market value of his Associated Capital unvested stock awards on December 31, 2016 was \$180,675 which is determined with reference to the \$32.85 per share closing price of Associated Capital unvested stock awards on December 31, 2016 was \$180,675 which is determined with reference to the \$32.85 per share closing price of Associated Capital unvested stock awards on December 31, 2016 was \$350,570.
- (e) Ms. LaPointe's restricted stock awards will vest annually on August & of each of 2017 to 2023 as to 10% each of 5,000 shares, on September 15, 2017 as to 30% of 500 shares, annually on September 15th of each of 2018 to 2024 as to 10% each of 500 shares, on January 15, 2018 as to 30% of 1,000 shares, and on January 15, 2020 as to 70% of 1,000 shares, in accordance with the terms of her restricted stock award agreements. As discussed in note (a), the value of the GAMCO restricted stock awards in the above table is reflective of the transfer of value of that portion of the Company that was distributed to, and ascribed to the value of the stock of, Associated Capital. To reflect the full value as of December 31, 2016 of the awards that Ms. LaPointe holds of both companies, one needs to add the value of the GAMCO restricted stock awards at December 31, 2016 shown in the above table to the value of the 5,000 unvested stock awards of Associated Capital's Class A common stock which she held on that date. The market value of her Associated Capital unvested stock awards on December 31, 2016 was \$164,250 which is determined with reference to the \$32.85 per share closing price of Associated Capital's Class A common stock on that day. Therefore the total market value of her GAMCO and Associated Capital unvested stock awards on December 31, 2016 was \$318,700.
- (f) Ms. Mullady's restricted stock awards will vest annually on August & of each of 2017 to 2023 as to 10% each of 14,000 shares, on September 15, 2017 as to 30% of 4,000 shares, annually on September 15th of each of 2018 to 2024

as to 10% each of 4,000 shares, on January 15, 2018 as to 30% of 2,500 shares, and on January 15, 2020 as to 70% of 2,500 shares, in accordance with the terms of her restricted stock award agreements. As discussed in note (a), the value of the GAMCO restricted stock awards in the above table is reflective of the transfer of value of that portion of the Company that was distributed to, and ascribed to the value of the stock of, Associated Capital. To reflect the full value as of December 31, 2016 of the awards that Ms. Mullady holds of both companies, one needs to add the value of the GAMCO restricted stock awards at December 31, 2016 shown in the above table to the value of the 16,300 unvested stock awards of Associated Capital's Class A common stock which she held on that date. The market value of her Associated Capital unvested stock awards on December 31, 2016 was \$535,455 which is determined with reference to the \$32.85 per share closing price of Associated Capital's Class A common stock on that day. Therefore the total market value of her GAMCO and Associated Capital unvested stock awards on December 31, 2016 was \$1,038,962.

29

Mr. Alpert's restricted stock awards will vest annually on August & of each of 2017 to 2023 as to 10% each of 4,000 shares, in accordance with the terms of his restricted stock award agreements. As discussed in note (a), the value of the GAMCO restricted stock awards in the above table is reflective of the transfer of value of that portion of the Company that was distributed to, and ascribed to the value of the stock of, Associated Capital. To reflect the full value as of December 31, 2016 of the awards that Mr. Alpert holds of both companies, one needs to add the

- (g) value of the GAMCO restricted stock awards at December 31, 2016 shown in the above table to the value of the 2,800 unvested stock awards of Associated Capital's Class A common stock which he held on that date. The market value of his Associated Capital unvested stock awards on December 31, 2016 was \$91,980 which is determined with reference to the \$32.85 per share closing price of Associated Capital's Class A common stock on that day. Therefore the total market value of his GAMCO and Associated Capital unvested stock awards on December 31, 2016 was \$178,472.
  - Mr. Van der Eb's restricted stock awards will vest annually on August & of each of 2017 to 2023 as to 10% each of 1,000 shares, in accordance with the terms of his restricted stock award agreements. As discussed in note (a), the value of the GAMCO restricted stock awards in the above table is reflective of the transfer of value of that portion of the Company that was distributed to, and ascribed to the value of the stock of, Associated Capital. To reflect the full value as of December 31, 2015 of the awards that Mr. Van der Eb holds of both companies, one
- (h) needs to add the value of the GAMCO restricted stock awards at December 31, 2016 shown in the above table to the value of the 700 unvested stock awards of Associated Capital's Class A common stock which he held on that date. The market value of his Associated Capital unvested stock awards on December 31, 2015 was \$22,995 which is determined with reference to the \$32.85 per share closing price of Associated Capital's Class A common stock on that day. Therefore the total market value of his GAMCO and Associated Capital unvested stock awards on December 31, 2016 was \$44,618.

#### Options Exercises and Stock Vested for 2016

The following table summarizes stock options exercised by and restricted stock awards which vested for the named executives during 2016.

	Option awards Number of		Restricted stock awards		
Name	shares acquired on exercise (#)	Value realized on exercise (\$)	Number of shares acquired on vesting (#)	Value realized on vesting (\$)	
Mario J. Gabelli	-0-	-0-	-0-	-0-	
Douglas R. Jamieson	-0-	-0-	1,800	60,120	(a) (b)
Kevin Handwerker	-0-	-0-	-0-	-0-	
Kieran Caterina	-0-	-0-	1,500	50,100	(a) (b)
Diane M. LaPointe	-0-	-0-	1,500	50,100	(a) (b)
Agnes Mullady	-0-	-0-	4,200	140,280	(a) (b)
Bruce Alpert	-0-	-0-	1,200	40,080	(a) (b)
Henry Van der Eb	-0-	-0-	300	10,020	(a) (b)

<sup>(</sup>a) Includes \$2,592, \$2,160, \$2,160, \$6,048, \$1,728, and \$432 payment on the vesting date of accumulated cash dividends on these RSAs for Mr. Jamieson, Mr. Caterina, Ms. LaPointe, Ms. Mullady, Mr. Alpert and Mr. Van der

#### Eb, respectively.

As discussed in note (a) to the Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2016 table on page 28, similar to the value shown there for unvested awards, the value realized on vesting in 2016 of the GAMCO restricted stock awards in the above table is reflective of the transfer of value of that portion of the Company that was distributed to, and ascribed to the value of the stock of, Associated Capital. To reflect the full value realized on vesting of the awards that vested for each named executive officer during 2016, one needs to add the value realized on vesting of the GAMCO restricted stock awards that vested during 2016 shown in the above table to the value realized on vesting of the Associated Capital restricted stock awards that also vested during 2016. The value realized on

(b) vesting of the Associated Capital restricted stock awards that also vested during 2016. The value realized on vesting of the Associated Capital awards that vested during 2016 (including the payment of accumulated cash dividends on the vesting date) was \$56,088, \$46,740, \$46,740, \$130,872, \$37,392, and \$9,348 for Mr. Jamieson, Mr. Caterina, Ms. LaPointe, Ms. Mullady, Mr. Alpert, and Mr. Van der Eb, respectively. Therefore the total value realized on the vesting of the GAMCO and Associated Capital awards that vested during 2016 (including the payment of accumulated cash dividends on the vesting date) was \$116,208, \$96,840, \$96,840, \$271,152, \$77,472, and \$19,368 for Mr. Jamieson, Mr. Caterina, Ms. LaPointe, Ms. Mullady, Mr. Alpert, and Mr. Van der Eb, respectively.

30

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Table for 2016

There was no nonqualified deferred compensation payable to the named executives during 2016. Pension Benefits for 2016

There were no pension benefit plans for any of the named executives during 2016.

Potential Payments Upon Termination of Employment or Change-of-Control.

Upon a change-of-control of the Company, all RSAs held by the named executives (if still employed by the Company at such time) automatically vest, and the accumulated but unpaid dividends associated with these RSAs would become immediately payable.

The following table sets forth information on the value of GAMCO RSAs held on December 31, 2016 and the accumulated but unpaid dividends on these shares through December 31, 2016, which would have been payable had a change-of-control occurred on that date. The price per share assumed is \$30.89, which was the closing price of Class A Stock on December 31, 2016.

	Fair Value		
	of	Accumulated	
	Unvested	but Unpaid	
	GBL RSA's	Dividends on	
	at	These RSA's	
	December	at December	Total
Name	31, 2016	31, 2016	(\$)
Mario J. Gabelli	-0-	-0-	-0-
Douglas R. Jamieson	191,518	7,576	199,094
Kevin Handwerker	30,890	680	31,570
Kieran Caterina	169,895	6,220	176,115
Diane LaPointe	154,450	5,880	160,330
Agnes Mullady	503,507	18,124	521,631
Bruce Alpert	86,492	4,144	90,636
Henry Van der Eb	21,623	1,036	22,659
Total	\$1,158,375	\$ 43,660	\$1,202,035

The above table excludes the fair value of the Associated Capital awards that the named executives received pursuant to the spin-off. See note (a) to the Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2016 table on page 28 for discussion of the adjustment of market value of these awards that occurred as a result of the spin-off of Associated Capital on November 30, 2015. The fair value of the unvested Associated Capital awards on December 31, 2016, using an assumed price per share of \$32.85 which was the closing price of Associated Capital's Class A common stock on that day, and the accumulated unpaid dividends on these shares through December 31, 2016 was \$204,910, \$33,050, \$181,775, \$165,250, \$538,715, \$92,540, and \$23,135 for Mr. Jamieson, Mr. Handwerker, Mr. Caterina, Ms. LaPointe, Ms. Mullady, Mr. Alpert, and Mr. Van der Eb, respectively. Therefore the fair value of GAMCO and Associated Capital awards held on December 31, 2016 and the accumulated unpaid dividends on these shares through December 31, 2016 was \$404,004, \$64,620, \$357,890, \$325,580, \$1,060,346, \$183,176, and \$45,794 for Mr. Jamieson, Mr. Handwerker, Mr. Caterina, Ms. LaPointe, Ms. Mullady, Mr. Alpert, and Mr. Van der Eb, respectively. The total of the combined GAMCO and Associated Capital awards and dividend amounts which would have been payable to the above named executives had a change-of-control event in both companies occurred on that date was \$2,441,410.

#### CERTAIN OWNERSHIP OF OUR STOCK

The following table sets forth, as of March 1, 2017, certain information with respect to all persons known to us who beneficially own more than 5% of the Class A Stock or Class B Stock. The table also sets forth information with respect to stock ownership of the directors, nominees, each of the executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table, and all directors and executive officers as a group. The number of shares beneficially owned is determined under rules of the SEC, and the information is not necessarily indicative of beneficial ownership for any other purpose. Under such rules, beneficial ownership includes any shares over which a person has the sole or shared voting or investment power and any shares which the person can acquire within 60 days (e.g., through the exercise of stock options). Except as otherwise indicated, the shareholders listed in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares set forth in the table.

Name of Beneficial Owner*	Title of Class	Number of Shares	Number of Shares Acquirable within 60 days	Percent of Class (%)
5% or More Shareholders	Class A	1 126 704	(1) 0	11.00
Frederick J. Mancheski	Class A	1,136,704	(1) -0-	11.09
Directors and Executive Officers				
Mario J. Gabelli	Class A	4,425,055	(2) -0-	43.17
	Class B	18,827,036	(3) -0-	98.61
Douglas R. Jamieson	Class A	14,395	(4) -0-	**
	Class B	29,471	-0-	**
Kevin Handwerker	Class A	1,000	-0-	**
Kieran Caterina	Class A	7,825	-0-	**
Diane M. LaPointe	Class A	6,575	(5)-0-	**
Agnes Mullady	Class A	29,226	-0-	**
Bruce Alpert	Class A	10,395	-0-	**
	Class B	1,720	-0-	**
Henry Van der Eb	Class A	1,582	-0-	**
Edwin L. Artzt	Class A	3,000	-0-	**
Raymond C. Avansino, Jr.	Class A	90,000	(6) -0-	**
Leslie B. Daniels	Class A	-0-	-0-	**
Eugene R. McGrath	Class A	5,300	(7) -0-	**
Robert S. Prather, Jr.	Class A	10,010	-0-	**
Elisa M. Wilson	Class A	3,500	-0-	**
	Class B	15,808	-0-	**
All Directors & Executive Officers as a Group (14 persons)	Class A	4,607,863	-0-	44.95
	Class B	18,874,035	-0-	98.86

The address of each beneficial owner of more than 5% of the Class A Stock or Class B Stock is as follows:

Pursuant to a resolution approved by the Board, as of February 6, 2017, there are 668,027 shares of the Class B

<sup>(\*)</sup> Frederick J. Mancheski, 1060 Vegas Valley Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89109; and Mario J. Gabelli, GAMCO Investors, Inc., One Corporate Center, Rye, NY 10580.

<sup>(\*\*)</sup> Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1%.

Stock that may be converted into Class A Stock.

As reported in Amendment No. 7 to Schedule 13D filed with the SEC by Frederick J. Mancheski on November 30, 2016, Mr. Mancheski beneficially owns 1,136,704 shares of Class A Stock. According to this filing, all 1,136,704 of the shares are owned by Mr. Mancheski. Pursuant to an Exchange and Standstill Agreement between GAMCO and Mr. Mancheski, dated May 31, 2006, Mr. Mancheski agreed, among other things, (i) not to solicit proxies in opposition to Company management; (ii) not to attempt to exercise any control over management or the Company; (iii) to vote his shares in favor of the nominees and positions advocated by the Board; (iv) subject to certain exceptions, not to acquire any additional shares of the Company or seek to acquire the Company; (v) not to become (1) part of a "group" with any other persons; (vi) not to initiate, propose or submit one or more shareholder proposals or induce or attempt to induce any other person to initiate any shareholder proposal; (vii) not to seek to call, or to request the call of, a special meeting of the Company's shareholders, or make a request for a list of the Company's shareholders; (viii) not to deposit any Class A Stock or other Voting Securities (as defined in the Exchange and Standstill Agreement) in a voting trust or enter into any other arrangement or agreement with respect to the voting thereof; and (ix) not to commence, encourage, or support any derivative action in the name of the Company or any class action against the Company or any of its officers or directors, each for a period of ten years. The Standstill Agreement expired on May 31, 2016.

32

- Of this amount, 2,000 are owned directly by Mr. Gabelli, 30,000 shares are held by GGCP and 4,393,055 shares (2) held by Gabelli & Company Investment Advisers, Inc. Mr. Gabelli has voting and dispositive control of these shares.
  - Of this amount, 453,295 are owned directly by Mr. Gabelli and 18,373,741 of these shares are owned by Holdings via GGCP. Mr. Gabelli may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of the Class B Stock held by Holdings on the
- (3) basis of (i) his position as the Chief Executive Officer of, a director of, and the controlling shareholder of GGCP which is the manager and the majority member of Holdings, and (ii) a certain profit interest in Holdings. Mr. Gabelli disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares owned by Holdings except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein.
- Includes 1,640 shares for which Mr. Jamieson is the Uniform Gift to Minors Act Custodian for his minor children's (4) accounts and 1,640 shares held by two of his children who have reached the age of legal majority but who continue to reside in Mr. Jamieson's household. Mr. Jamieson has voting and dispositive control of these shares.
- (5) Includes 1,575 shares with respect to which Ms. LaPointe has shared voting and dispositive power with her spouse.
- Includes 60,000 shares that are owned by two entities for which Mr. Avansino serves as a director and officer. Mr. Avansino disclaims beneficial ownership of these 60,000 shares.
- Includes 1,000 shares held by a trust for which Mr. McGrath is a trustee and has shared voting and dispositive power with respect to these shares with his spouse.

# SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Based solely on a review of filings made under Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we believe that our directors and executive officers and our shareholders who own 10% or more of our Class A Stock or Class B Stock have complied with the requirements of Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 to report ownership, and transactions which change ownership, on time for 2016, except for one Form 4 filing reporting a transaction occurring on February 12, 2016 by Mario J. Gabelli and one Form 3 filing reporting a transaction occurring on November 4, 2016 by Leslie B. Daniels, which were not filed on a timely basis.

#### CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

GGCP, through Holdings, owns a majority of our Class B Stock representing approximately 91% of the combined voting power and approximately 62% of the outstanding shares of our common stock at December 31, 2016. Mr. Mario Gabelli serves as the Chief Executive Officer, a director and is the controlling shareholder of GGCP. Various family members of Mr. Mario Gabelli are shareholders of GGCP including Mr. Marc Gabelli and Ms. Wilson. Mr. Marc Gabelli serves as President and Managing Director of GGCP.

GCIA owns 4.4 million shares of our Class A Stock, representing approximately 2% of the combined voting power and 15% of the outstanding shares of our common stock at December 31, 2016.

For 2016, the Company incurred variable costs of \$352,699 for actual usage (but not the fixed costs) relating to our use of aircraft in which GGCP owns the fractional interests. 33

We lease an approximately 60,000 square foot building located at 401 Theodore Fremd Avenue, Rye, New York as our headquarters (the "Building") from **M**E, an entity that is owned by family members of Mr. Mario Gabelli, including Mr. Marc Gabelli and Ms. Wilson. Under the lease for the Building, which was extended for an additional five year term on June 11, 2013 with no change to the base rental of \$18 per square foot and now expires on December 31, 2028, we are responsible for all operating expenses, costs of electricity and other utilities and taxes. For the period January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016, the rent was \$1,191,299, or \$19.85 per square foot. As members of M<sup>4</sup>E, Mr. Marc Gabelli and Ms. Wilson each are entitled to receive their pro-rata share of payments received by M<sup>4</sup>E under the lease.

As of April 1, 2016, we lease approximately 15,000 square feet in the Building to AC. AC pays rent at the rate of \$21.62 per square foot plus \$3 per square foot for electricity, subject to adjustment for increases in taxes and other operating expenses. The total amount paid in 2016 for rent and other expenses under this lease was \$276,237. We sublease approximately 3,300 square feet in the Building to LICT, a company for which Mr. Mario Gabelli serves as Chairman and CEO and is deemed to be the controlling shareholder. LICT pays rent to us at the rate of \$28 per square foot plus \$3 per square foot for electricity, subject to adjustment for increases in taxes and other operating expenses. The total amount paid to us in 2016 for rent and other expenses under this lease was \$116,564. This sublease expires on December 5, 2023.

We also sublease approximately 1,600 square feet in the Building to Teton, a company for which, since March 1, 2017, GAMCO serves as a subadvisor, and Mr. Gabelli serves as portfolio manager under that subadvisory agreement. Mr. Gabelli previously served as portfolio manager for Teton from 1998 to February 2017. Teton is an asset management company which was spun-off from the Company in March 2009. Teton pays rent to us at the rate of \$37.75 per square foot plus \$3 per square foot for electricity, subject to adjustment for increases in taxes and other operating expenses. The total amounts paid in 2016 to us for rent and other expenses under this lease were \$68,205. We lease approximately 1,599 square feet of office space in Reno, Nevada from Miami Oil Producers, Inc., for which Mr. Avansino serves as the Chairman and President. We pay a base rent of \$3,118 per month plus the cost of parking and subject to adjustment annually for changes in the consumer price index. We entered into the current lease on January 1, 2011 with a 3 year term and thereafter subject to an option to extend the term for a year at a time. We extended the term by one year on January 1, 2015 with it remaining subject to an option to extend the term for one year at a time. We further extended the term by one year on January 1, 2016 with it remaining subject to an option to extend the term for one year at a time. We are currently in negotiations to extend the term for an additional one year through December 31, 2017. For the period January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016, the rent was \$39,984, or \$25.01 per square foot. In 2009, GAMCO entered into a sublease of a portion of this office space in Reno, Nevada to CIBL, Inc. ("CIBL"). Mr. Mario Gabelli is a director of CIBL, and an affiliate of Mr. Gabelli is its largest shareholder. Under the terms of the Reno sublease, the Company granted CIBL the right to use such part of GAMCO's Reno office as the Company and CIBL shall from time to time agree. The sublease granted CIBL the right to use space in the Reno office until July 31, 2009 with an automatic renewal for one additional calendar year which extended the sublease until July 31, 2010. Since August 1, 2010, the space has been subleased on a month-to-month basis. For 2016, the rent for the Reno sublease was \$6,000.

In addition to the sublease of space in the Building, we entered into a number of agreements in connection with the Company's distribution of the shares of Class A and B common stock in Teton in March 2009. These agreements are as follows: a Separation and Distribution Agreement, an Administrative and Management Services Agreement ("Administrative Agreement") and Service Mark and Name License Agreement (the "License Agreement"). Pursuant to the Administrative Agreement, we provide certain services to Teton including senior executive functions, strategic planning and general corporate management services; mutual fund administration services; treasury services, including insurance and risk management services and administration of benefits; operational and general administrative assistance including office space, office equipment, administrative personnel, payroll, and procurement services as needed; accounting and related financial services; legal, regulatory and compliance advice, including the retention of a Chief Compliance Officer; and human resources functions, including sourcing of permanent and temporary employees as needed, recordkeeping, performance reviews and terminations. Effective January 1, 2011, the Administrative Agreement was amended to be based on a tiered formula as opposed to a fixed rate. Under the amended agreement, the Company is compensated by Teton 20 basis points annually on the first \$370 million of average assets under management ("AUM") in the Teton funds, 12 basis points annually on the next \$630 million of

average AUM in the Teton funds, and 10 basis points annually of average AUM in the Teton funds in excess of \$1 billion. The License Agreement provides Teton and the funds that it manages the use of certain names and service marks. Effective April 1, 2014, the Administrative Agreement was further amended to increase the fixed monthly component of it from \$15,000 per month to \$25,000 per month. Pursuant to the Administrative Agreement and the License Agreement, the Company was compensated in 2016 by Teton in the amount of \$25,000 per month for the first nine months and \$18,750 for the last three months, or \$281,250 for the full year, plus an average of 14.1 basis points of the average AUM in the Teton funds (pursuant to the tiered formula) for providing mutual fund administration services to these funds, or \$1,701,098 for 2016. We sublease space in the Building to Teton as discussed above. G.distributors, LLC ("G.distributors"), an affiliated broker-dealer of the Company, served as distributor to the seven mutual funds that are managed by Teton during 2016. In 2016, the funds managed by Teton paid G.distributors \$3,576,897 in distribution fees, of which \$3,282,814 was reallocated to other broker dealers by G.distributors. In 2016, Mr. Mario Gabelli earned \$1,458,148 in portfolio manager compensation for acting as co-manager of the GAMCO Westwood Mighty Mites Fund, a Teton micro-cap fund; such amount is excluded from his compensation earned for 2016 shown earlier in the Summary Compensation Table for 2016 as indicated in footnote (c) to that table.

Effective January 1, 2014, GAMCO and Funds Advisor each entered into a research services agreement with G.research, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of GCIA (which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Associated Capital subsequent to the spin-off), for G.research, LLC to provide them with the same types of research services that it provides to its other clients. In 2016, GAMCO and Funds Advisor paid G.research, LLC \$1,500,000 and \$1,530,000, respectively.

In connection with the spin-off of Associated Capital in November 2015, we entered into certain other agreements with Associated Capital to define our ongoing relationship with Associated Capital after the spin-off. These other agreements define responsibility for obligations arising before and after the distribution date, including certain transitional services and taxes and are summarized below.

#### Separation and Distribution Agreement

On November 30, 2015, we entered into a Separation and Distribution Agreement with Associated Capital (the "Separation Agreement"), which contains the key provisions relating to the separation of Associate Capital's business from that of GAMCO and the distribution of the Associated Capital common stock. The Separation Agreement identified the assets transferred, liabilities assumed and contracts assigned to Associated Capital by GAMCO and by Associated Capital to GAMCO in the spin-off and describes when and how these transfers, assumptions and assignments occurred. The Separation Agreement also includes procedures by which GAMCO and Associated Capital became separate and independent companies. The Separation Agreement also provides that, as of November 30, 2015, each party released the other party and their respective affiliates and their directors, officers, employees and agents from all claims, demands and liabilities, in law and in equity, against such other party, which such releasing party has or may have had relating to events, circumstances or actions taken by such other party prior to the distribution. This release does not apply to claims arising from the Separation Agreement.

# Indemnification

GAMCO has agreed to indemnify Associated Capital and its directors, officers, employees, agents and affiliates (collectively, "Associated Capital indemnitees") against all losses, liabilities and damages incurred or suffered by any of the Associated Capital indemnitees arising out of:

- GAMCO's business:
- the failure or alleged failure of GAMCO or any of its subsidiaries to pay, perform or otherwise discharge in due course any of GAMCO liabilities;
- a breach by GAMCO of any of its obligations under the Separation Agreement; and
- any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact: (i) contained in any document filed with the SEC by GAMCO pursuant to any securities rule, regulation or law, (ii) otherwise disclosed by GAMCO or its subsidiaries to investors or potential investors in GAMCO or its subsidiaries or (iii) furnished to any Associated Capital indemnitee by GAMCO or any of its subsidiaries for inclusion in any public disclosures to be made by any Associated Capital indemnitee; or any omission or alleged omission to state in any information described in clauses (i), (ii) or (iii) a material fact necessary to make the statements not misleading. The indemnity described in this paragraph is available only to the extent that Associated Capital losses are caused by any such untrue statement or omission or alleged untrue statement or omission, and the information which is the subject of such untrue statement or omission or alleged untrue statement or omission was not supplied after the spin-off by Associated Capital or its agents. Similarly, Associated Capital has agreed to indemnify GAMCO and its directors, officers, employees, agents and affiliates (collectively, "GAMCO indemnitees") against all losses, liabilities and damages incurred or suffered by any of the GAMCO indemnitees arising out of:
- Associated Capital's business;
- the failure or alleged failure of Associated Capital or any of its subsidiaries to pay, perform or otherwise discharge in due course any of Associated Capital liabilities;

35

- a breach by Associated Capital of any of its obligations under the Separation Agreement; and
- any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact: (i) contained in any document filed with the SEC by Associated Capital following the distribution pursuant to any securities rule, regulation or law, (ii) otherwise disclosed following the distribution by Associated Capital or its subsidiaries to investors or potential investors in Associated Capital or its subsidiaries or (iii) furnished to any GAMCO indemnitee by Associated Capital or any of its subsidiaries for inclusion in any public disclosures to be made by any GAMCO indemnitee; or any omission or alleged omission to state in any information described in clauses (i), (ii) or (iii) a material fact necessary to make the statements not misleading. The indemnity described in this paragraph is available only to the extent that GAMCO losses are caused by any such untrue statement or omission or alleged untrue statement or omission, and the information which is the subject of such untrue statement or omission or alleged untrue statement or omission was not supplied by GAMCO or its agents.

Transitional Administrative and Management Services Agreement

On November 30, 2015, we entered into a Transitional Administrative and Management Services Agreement with Associated Capital (the "Transition Services Agreement") pursuant to which GAMCO will provide Associated Capital with a variety of services and Associated Capital will provide payroll services to GAMCO following the spin-off. Among the principal services GAMCO will provide to Associated Capital are:

accounting, financial reporting and consolidation services, including the services of a financial and operations principal;

treasury services, including, without limitation, insurance and risk management services and administration of benefits;

- tax planning, tax return preparation, recordkeeping and reporting services;
- human resources, including but not limited to the sourcing of permanent and temporary employees as needed, recordkeeping, performance reviews and terminations;
- legal and compliance advice, including the services of a Chief Compliance Officer;
- technical/technology consulting; and
- operations and general administrative assistance, including office space, office equipment and furniture, payroll, procurement, and administrative personnel.

In providing the services pursuant to this agreement, GAMCO may, subject to the prior written consent of Associated Capital, employ consultants and other advisers in addition to utilizing its own employees. Services provided by GAMCO to Associated Capital or by Associated Capital to GAMCO under the Transition Services Agreement are charged at cost and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, we paid Associated Capital approximately \$4,656,441, and Associated Capital paid \$12,164,746 to us.

The Transition Services Agreement had an initial term of twelve months and has not been terminated to date. The Transition Services Agreement is terminable by either party on 30 days' prior written notice to the other party. Each of the following named executives of GAMCO earned an amount during 2016 for services rendered to Associated Capital pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement and/or, in some cases, an additional amount that was earned by them directly for incentive-based variable compensation from Associated Capital.

GAMCO Named Executives' Compensation From Associated Capital

During 2016 Earned for services rendered to Earned directly as incentive-based Associated Capital pursuant to the variable compensation from Associated Name Transition Services Agreement Capital (\$) (\$) -0-Mario J. Gabelli 1,720,617 Douglas R. Jamieson 400,000 297,026 Kevin Handwerker -0-162,150 Kieran Caterina -0-82,500 Diane LaPointe -()-54,937 Agnes Mullady -0-400,000 Bruce Alpert -()-1,474 Henry Van der Eb -0--0-

36

#### Tax Indemnity and Sharing Agreement

On November 30, 2015, we entered into a Tax Indemnity and Sharing Agreement with Associated Capital that provides for certain agreements and covenants related to tax matters involving Associated Capital and us. This agreement covers time periods before and after the distribution. Among the matters addressed in the agreement are filing of tax returns, retention and sharing of books and records, cooperation in tax matters, control of possible tax audits and contests and tax indemnities. The agreement also provides for limitations on certain corporate transactions that could affect the qualification of the spin-off as tax free under the Internal Revenue Code. Promissory Note

In connection with the spin-off of Associated Capital on November 30, 2015, the Company issued a \$250 million promissory note (the "AC 4% PIK Note") payable to Associated Capital. The AC 4% PIK Note bears interest at 4.0% per annum. The original principal amount has a maturity date of November 30, 2020. Interest on the AC 4% PIK Note will accrue from the date of the last interest payment, or if no interest has been paid, from the effective date of the AC 4% PIK Note. At the election of the Company, payment of interest on the AC 4% PIK Note may be paid in kind (in whole or in part) on the then-outstanding principal amount (a "PIK Amount") in lieu of cash. The Company will repay the original principal amount of the AC 4% PIK Note to Associated Capital in five equal annual installments of \$50 million on each interest payment date up to and including the maturity date. All PIK Amounts added to the outstanding principal amount of the AC 4% PIK Note will mature on the fifth anniversary from the date the PIK Amount was added to the outstanding principal of the AC 4% PIK Note. In no event may any interest be paid in kind subsequent to November 30, 2019. The Company may prepay the AC 4% PIK Note (in whole or in part) prior to maturity without penalty. During 2016, the Company prepaid \$150 million of principal of the AC 4% PIK Note. \$50 million of the prepayment was applied against the principal amount due on November 30, 2016, \$40 million against the principal amount due on November 30, 2017, \$30 million against the principal amount due on November 30, 2018, and \$30 million against the principal amount due on November 30, 2019. Of the \$100 million principal amount outstanding at December 31, 2016, \$10 million is due on November 30, 2017, \$20 million is due on November 30, 2018, \$20 million is due on November 30, 2019, and \$50 million is due on November 30, 2020. During 2016, GAMCO accrued interest expense of \$7,747,854 for the AC 4% PIK Note.

#### Service Mark and Name License Agreement

On November 30, 2015, we entered into the Service Mark and Name License Agreement with Associated Capital pursuant to which Associated Capital has certain rights to use the "Gabelli" name and the "GAMCO" name.

#### Other Related Party Transactions

On November 18, 2015, the Company commenced a tender offer (the "Offer") to purchase for cash up to \$100 million aggregate principal amount of its senior unsecured notes due June 1, 2021 at a price of 101% of the principal amount. In connection with the Offer, the Company borrowed \$35.0 million from GGCP. The loan had a term of one year and bore interest at 90-day LIBOR plus 3.25%, reset and payable quarterly. Under the terms of the loan agreement, the Company was required to fully pay the loan prior to any accelerated payment of the AC 4% PIK Note. On March 18, 2016, the Company paid back \$15.0 million of the loan. During the second quarter of 2016 the Company paid back the remaining \$20.0 million of the loan. During 2016, GAMCO recorded interest expense of \$415,000.

In connection with the issuance of the Convertible Note, GGCP deposited cash equal to the principal amount of the Note and six months interest into an escrow account established pursuant to an escrow agreement by and among GGCP, the Company, the Convertible Note holder and the escrow agent. The Company paid the annual costs of setting up the escrow account in the amount of \$55,000 and will continue to pay them as long as the escrow account is open. The Company did not pay any fees to GGCP in connection with the funding of the escrow account. GAMCO Asset Management Inc. ("GAMCO Asset Management"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has entered into an agreement to provide advisory and administrative services to MJG Associates, which has been wholly-owned by our Chairman and CEO, Mr. Mario Gabelli, since 1990, with respect to the private investment funds that it manages. Pursuant to this agreement, MJG Associates paid GAMCO Asset Management \$10,000 (excluding

reimbursement of expenses) for 2016. Mr. John Gabelli, the brother of our Chairman and CEO, is the sole shareholder of an entity that is the general partner of two investment partnerships - Manhattan Partners I, L.P. ("Manhattan I") and Manhattan Partners II, L.P. ("Manhattan II"). Manhattan I and Manhattan II paid GAMCO Asset Management investment advisory fees in the amount of \$11,274 for 2016. In addition, an entity that Mr. John Gabelli's wife is the sole shareholder of is the co-general partner of S.W.A.N. Partners, LP ("S.W.A.N."), which is a separately managed account of GAMCO Asset Management. S.W.A.N. paid GAMCO Asset Management investment advisory fees in the amount of approximately \$18,206 for 2016.

GAMCO serves as the investment advisor for twenty-one open-end funds, fifteen closed-end funds and one exchange traded managed fund under the Gabelli, GAMCO and Comstock brands (collectively, the "Funds") and earns advisory fees based on predetermined percentages of the average net assets of the Funds. In addition, G.distributors, LLC, the broker dealer subsidiary of GAMCO, has entered into distribution agreements with each of the Funds. As principal distributor, G.distributors, LLC incurs certain promotional and distribution costs related to the sale of Fund shares, for which it receives a distribution fee from the Funds or reimbursement from the investment advisor. For 2016, G.distributors, LLC received \$40,976,387 in distributions fees. Advisory and distribution fees receivable from the Funds were \$32,925,046 at December 31, 2016.

Pursuant to an agreement between GCIA and Funds Advisor, Funds Advisor pays to GCIA 90% of the net revenues received by Funds Advisor related to being the advisor to the SICAV. Net revenues are defined as gross advisory fees less expenses related to payouts and expenses of the SICAV paid by Funds Advisor. The amount paid by Funds Advisor to GCIA for 2016 was \$2,708,084.

We incur expenses for certain professional and administrative services, and purchase services from third party providers, such as payroll, transportation, insurance and public relations services, on behalf of GGCP and MJG Associates. GGCP and MJG Associates reimburse us for these expenses. GGCP also incurs expenses for certain professional and administrative services on behalf of the Company, and we reimburse GGCP for these expenses. The net amount reimbursable from GGCP and MJG Associates to us for such expenses for 2016 was \$82,830 and \$639,640, respectively. At December 31, 2016, \$45,187 was owed to the Company by GGCP, and \$639,460 was owed to the Company by MJG Associates. The GGCP amount was paid in full to the Company on February 2, 2017, and the MJG Associates amount was paid in full to the Company on March 20, 2017.

Certain directors and executive officers have immediate family members who are employed by us, our subsidiaries, and certain related entities. The base salaries and bonuses of each of these immediate family members are established in accordance with our compensation practices applicable generally to staff members with equivalent qualifications and responsibilities and holding similar positions. None of the directors or executive officers has a material interest in any of these employment relationships of their immediate family members, and all of the immediate family members of our directors mentioned below are financially independent adult children. None of the immediate family members mentioned below is an executive officer of GAMCO. Mr. Marc Gabelli was an executive officer of Associated Capital during 2016.

A daughter of Mr. Avansino, one of our directors, is employed by one of our subsidiaries in a sales and marketing role and earned from GAMCO in 2016 incentive-based variable compensation based on revenues generated by certain relationships ("Variable Compensation") of \$303,323 plus usual and customary benefits. She also received 2,000 restricted stock awards on August 6, 2013 (600 of which vested in August 2016) with a grant date fair value of \$57.86 per share and 500 restricted stock awards with an effective grant date, under FASB guidance, of December 23, 2014 and a legal grant date of January 15, 2015 with a grant date fair value of \$87.99 per share. The prices were reflective of the value of GAMCO's stock prior to the spin. As with all Company restricted stock awards, fair value equals the closing price of the Company's Class A Stock on the day preceding the effective grant date. Compensation expense of \$29,768 was recognized for all of her awards for financial statement reporting purposes for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 calculated in accordance with FASB guidance. She also received \$924 in accumulated dividends on the restricted stock awards that vested in August 2016. The total compensation that she earned from GAMCO in 2016 was \$334,015.

A son of our Chairman, who has been employed by one of our subsidiaries since 1998, earned no base salary and \$193,996 in Variable Compensation from GAMCO in 2016 plus usual and customary benefits. He also received 4,000 restricted stock awards on August 6, 2013 (1,200 of which vested in August 2016) with a grant date fair value of \$57.86 per share, 1,000 restricted stock awards on November 27, 2013 with a grant date fair value of \$81.55 per share, 1,000 restricted stock awards on September 15, 2014 with a grant date fair value of \$73.41 per share, and 500 restricted stock awards with an effective grant date, under FASB guidance, of December 23, 2014 and a legal grant date of January 15, 2015 with a grant date fair value of \$87.99 per share. The prices were reflective of the value of GAMCO's stock prior to the spin. As with all Company restricted stock awards, fair value equals the closing price of the Company's Class A Stock on the day preceding the effective grant date. Total compensation expense of \$64,582 was recognized for all of his awards for financial statement reporting purposes for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 calculated in accordance with FASB guidance. He also received \$1,848 in accumulated dividends on the

restricted stock awards that vested in August 2016. The total compensation that he earned from GAMCO in 2016 was \$260,426.

A son of our Chairman is employed by a subsidiary of Associated Capital, but he also earned from GAMCO in 2016 a bonus of \$50,000, an allocation of \$100,000 of the incentive-based management fee (10% of GAMCO pre-tax profits) by Mr. Mario Gabelli as described in the "Variable Compensation" section of the Compensation and Discussion Analysis and in footnote (c) to the Summary Compensation Table for 2016, and \$410,376 in Variable Compensation plus usual and customary benefits. The total compensation that he earned from GAMCO in 2016 was \$560,376.

Mr. Marc Gabelli, a son of our Chairman was a director of the Company until May 3, 2016. His compensation information is disclosed in the Director Compensation Table for 2016 on page 16.

Our Chairman's spouse, who has been employed by a subsidiary of the Company in a sales and marketing role since 1984, has been a director of that subsidiary since 1991 and has been his spouse since 2002, earned from GAMCO in 2016 no base salary, an allocation of \$200,000 of the incentive-based management fee (10% of GAMCO pre-tax profits) by Mr. Gabelli as described in the "Variable Compensation" section of the Compensation and Discussion Analysis and in footnote (c) to the Summary Compensation Table for 2016, and \$4,721,693 in Variable Compensation plus usual and customary benefits. She also received 5,000 restricted stock awards on August 6, 2013 (1,500 of which vested in August 2016) with a grant date fair value of \$57.86 per share, 2,000 restricted stock awards on November 27, 2013 with a grant date fair value of \$81.55 per share, 1,500 restricted stock awards on September 15, 2014 with a grant date fair value of \$73.41 per share, and 2,000 restricted stock awards with an effective grant date, under FASB guidance, of December 23, 2014 and a legal grant date of January 15, 2015 with a grant date fair value of \$87.99 per share. The prices were reflective of the value of GAMCO's stock prior to the spin. As with all Company restricted stock awards, fair value equals the closing price of the Company's Class A Stock on the day preceding the effective grant date. Total compensation expense of \$113,004 was recognized by the Company for all of her awards for financial statement reporting purposes for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 calculated in accordance with FASB guidance. She also received \$2,310 in accumulated dividends on the restricted stock awards that vested in August 2016. The total compensation that she earned from GAMCO in 2016 was \$5,037,007.

A brother of our Chairman earned \$419,974 in Variable Compensation from GAMCO in 2016 plus usual and customary benefits.

Ms. Wilson, a director and the daughter of our Chairman, is also a professional staff member of the Company. Ms. Wilson has been on extended unpaid leave from the Company since January 1, 2004 and therefore received no compensation during 2016 other than compensation she received as a director disclosed in the Director Compensation Table for 2016 and her previously-discussed entitlement, as a member of M<sup>4</sup>E, to receive her pro-rata share of payments received by M<sup>4</sup>E under the lease on the Building.

The spouse of Ms. LaPointe, our Senior Vice President and Co-Chief Accounting Officer, is employed as the Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and a Director of LICT, the Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of CIBL, and the Interim Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and a Director of Morgan Group Holding, Inc. ("Morgan"). In addition to serving as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of LICT and as a Director of CIBL, our Chairman and CEO, Mr. Mario Gabelli, also serves as the Chairman of Morgan. On May 31, 2006, we entered into an Exchange and Standstill Agreement ("Standstill Agreement") with Frederick J. Mancheski, a significant shareholder, pursuant to which, among other things, he agreed to exchange his 2,071,635 shares of Class B Stock for an equal number of shares of Class A Stock. The substance of the Standstill Agreement is disclosed in footnote 1 to the beneficial ownership table under the heading "Certain Ownership of Our Stock." Pursuant to a Registration Rights Agreement that we entered into with Mr. Mancheski, we filed a shelf registration statement that was declared effective by the SEC on September 1, 2006 and amended on November 25, 2013, for the sale by Mr. Mancheski and others, including certain of our officers and employees, of up to 2,486,763 shares of Class A Stock. Mr. Mancheski continues to hold 1,136,704 shares of the Company's Class A Stock as reported in his Amendment No. 7 to Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on November 30, 2016. The Standstill Agreement expired on May 31, 2016.

As required by our Code of Ethics, our staff members are required to maintain their brokerage accounts at G.research unless they receive permission to maintain an outside account. G.research offers all of these staff members the opportunity to engage in brokerage transactions at discounted rates. Accordingly, many of our staff members, including the executive officers or entities controlled by them, have brokerage accounts at G.research and have engaged in securities transactions through it at discounted rates. From time to time, we, through our subsidiaries, in the ordinary course of business have also provided brokerage or investment advisory services to our directors, the substantial shareholders listed in the table under "Certain Ownership of Our Stock" or entities controlled by such persons for customary fees.

39

#### REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

Messrs. Artzt, Avansino, McGrath and Prather, each of whom is an independent director, are the members of the Audit Committee. In this report, the term "we" refers to the members of the Audit Committee.

The Board has adopted a written charter for the Audit Committee. A copy of that charter can be found on our website at http://www.gabelli.com/corporate/corp\_gov.html. Our job is one of oversight as set forth in our charter. The Company's management is responsible for preparing its financial statements and for maintaining internal controls. The independent registered public accounting firm is responsible for auditing the financial statements and expressing an opinion as to whether those audited financial statements fairly represent the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have reviewed and discussed the Company's audited 2016 financial statements with management and with Deloitte & Touche LLP ("D&T"), the Company's independent registered public accounting firm.

We have discussed with D&T the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standard No. 16, "Communications with Audit Committees," issued by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (the "PCAOB"). We have received from D&T the written statements required by the PCAOB regarding the independent accountant's communications with the audit committee concerning independence and have discussed with the independent accountant the independent accountant's independence.

Based on the review and discussions referred to above, we have recommended to the Board that the audited financial statements be included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 for filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

#### **AUDIT COMMITTEE**

Robert S. Prather, Jr. (Chairman)

Edwin L. Artzt

Raymond C. Avansino, Jr.

Eugene R. McGrath

#### INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Selection of Deloitte & Touche LLP

Our Audit Committee approved the engagement of Deloitte & Touche LLP ("D&T") as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the year-ending December 31, 2016. D&T has been the auditor of the Company since March 27, 2009. In deciding to engage D&T, the Audit Committee reviewed auditor independence and existing commercial relationships with D&T and concluded that D&T has no commercial relationship with the Company that would impair its independence. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 and in the subsequent interim period through March xx, 2017, neither the Company nor anyone acting on its behalf has consulted with D&T on any of the matters or events set forth in Item 304(a)(2) of Regulation S–K.

A representative of D&T will be present at the 2017 Annual Meeting. The representative will have the opportunity to make a statement and respond to appropriate questions from shareholders.

Deloitte & Touche LLP Fees For 2015 and 2016

Fees for professional services provided by our independent registered public accounting firm in 2015 and 2016, in each of the following categories are:

2015 2016
Audit Fees \$1,149,730 \$1,030,000
Audit-Related Fees \$450,333 \$5,000
Tax Fees \$600 \$0
All Other Fees \$2,792 \$2,792

Audit fees include fees relating to the audit of our annual financial statements and review of financial statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q. Audit fees also include fees for services related to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act which consist of the review of documentation and testing of our procedures and controls. Audit—related fees for 2016 consist of fees for services provided in connection with the Securities Investor Protection Corporation membership exemption for the Company's registered broker-dealer subsidiary. Audit—related fees for 2015 consist of fees relating to the audit of carve-out financial statements included in our Form 10 filing for the spin-off of Associated Capital and fees for a consent letter provided in connection with the filing of a registration statement on Form S-3. Tax fees for 2015 were for assistance with federal tax filings, state sourcing, and foreign tax work. All other fees were for access to online technical research services.

#### SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR THE 2018 ANNUAL MEETING

Qualified shareholders who want to have proposals included in our proxy statement in connection with our 2018 Annual Meeting pursuant to Rule 14a-8 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), must deliver such proposals so that they are received at our principal executive offices at One Corporate Center, Rye, New York 10580 by December 22, 2017 in order to be considered for inclusion in next year's proxy statement and proxy. For any shareholder proposal submitted outside Rule 14a-8 of the Exchange Act to be considered timely under our Amended and Restated Bylaws, the Company must receive notice of such proposal, or any nomination of a director by a shareholder, no earlier than January 3, 2018 and no later than February 2, 2018.

#### OTHER MATTERS

We know of no other matters to be presented at the 2017 Annual Meeting other than the election of directors, the ratification of auditors, the vote to approve the Potential Issuance, the vote to approve an amendment to the Company's 2002 Stock Award and Incentive Plan, the advisory vote on named executive officer compensation, the advisory vote on the frequency of future advisory votes on name executive officer compensation, and the Reclassification Proposal, all as described above. If other matters are properly presented at the 2017 Annual Meeting, the proxies will vote on these matters in accordance with their judgment of the best interests of the Company.

We will provide a free copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016. Requests should be in writing and addressed to our Secretary at GAMCO Investors, Inc., One Corporate Center, Rye, NY 10580-1422.

41

#### **EXHIBIT A**

THIRD AMENDMENT TO GAMCO INVESTORS, INC. 2002 STOCK AWARD AND INCENTIVE PLAN

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 8(e) of the GAMCO Investors, Inc. 2002 Stock Award and Incentive Plan, as amended to date (the "Plan"), the Board of Directors (the "Board") of GAMCO Investors, Inc. (the "Company") may, subject to certain limitations, alter, amend, suspend, or terminate the Plan or any portion thereof at any time; and

WHEREAS, capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Plan; and

WHEREAS, the Plan, as adopted by the Board, provided that the maximum number of shares of Stock that could be delivered pursuant to Awards granted under the Plan was 4,000,000, subject to adjustment as provided therein; and

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to increase the number of Shares available for issuance under the Plan by 2,000,000 Shares; and

WHEREAS, subject to shareholder approval, the Board approved the terms of this Amendment.

NOW, THEREFORE, In accordance with Article 8(e) of the Plan, the Plan shall be amended effective upon shareholder approval as follows:

1. The first sentence of Article 5 of the Plan is hereby amended and restated as follows:

"The number of shares of Stock reserved for the grant of Awards under the Plan shall be 6,000,000, subject to adjustment as provided herein."

2. As hereby amended, the Plan shall continue in full force and effect. This Amendment shall be effective upon shareholder approval.

GA1	MCO
INV	ESTORS
INC	·•
By:	
,	Name:
	Title:

A-1

#### **EXHIBIT B**

#### GUIDELINES FOR DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

For a director to be deemed "independent," the Board shall affirmatively determine that the director has no material relationship with GAMCO Investors, Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, "GAMCO") or its affiliates or any member of the senior management of GAMCO or his or her affiliates. This determination shall be disclosed in the proxy statement for each annual meeting of GAMCO's shareholders. In making this determination, the Board shall apply the following standards:

A director who is an employee, or whose immediate family member is an executive officer, of GAMCO will not be deemed independent until three years after the end of such employment relationship. Employment as an interim Chairman or Chief Executive Officer will not disqualify a director from being considered independent following that employment.

A director who received, or whose immediate family member received in any twelve month period over the last three years more than \$120,000 in direct compensation from GAMCO will not be deemed independent. In calculating such compensation, the following will be excluded:

director and committee fees and pension or other forms of deferred compensation for prior service (provided such compensation is not contingent in any way on continued service);

ocompensation received by a director for former service as an interim Chairman or Chief Executive Officer; and compensation received by an immediate family member for service as a non-executive officer employee of GAMCO.

- · A director will not be considered independent if:
- othe director is a current partner or employee of a firm that is GAMCO's internal or external auditor;
- othe director has an immediate family member who is a current partner of GAMCO's internal or external auditor; the director has an immediate family member who is a current employee of GAMCO's internal or external auditor and personally works on GAMCO's audit; or
- the director or an immediate family member was within in the last three years a partner or employee of GAMCO's internal or external auditor and personally worked on GAMCO's audit within that time.

A director who is, or whose immediate family member is, or has been within the last three years, employed as an executive officer of another company where any of GAMCO's current executive officers serve on that company's compensation committee will not be deemed independent.

A director who is, a current employee, or whose immediate family member is an executive officer, of an entity that makes payments to, or receives payments from, GAMCO for property or services in an amount which, in any of the last three fiscal years, exceeds the greater of \$1 million or 2% of such other entity's consolidated gross revenues, will not be deemed independent.

A director who serves as an executive officer of a tax-exempt entity that receives significant contributions (i.e., more than 2% of the annual contributions received by the entity or more than \$1 million in a single fiscal year, whichever amount is greater) from GAMCO, any of its affiliates, any executive officer or any affiliate of an executive officer within the preceding twelve-month period may not be deemed independent, unless the contribution was approved by the Board and disclosed in GAMCO's proxy statement.

For purposes of these Guidelines, the terms:

B-1

"affiliate" means any consolidated subsidiary of GAMCO and any other company or entity that controls, is controlled by or is under common control with GAMCO, as evidenced by the power to elect a majority of the board of directors or comparable governing body of such entity; and

"immediate family" means spouse, parents, children, siblings, mothers- and fathers-in-law, sons- and daughters-in-law, brothers- and sisters-in-law and anyone (other than domestic employees) sharing a person's home, but excluding any person who is no longer an immediate family member as a result of legal separation or divorce, or death or incapacitation.

The Board shall undertake an annual review of the independence of all non-employee directors. In advance of the meeting at which this review occurs, each non-employee director shall be asked to provide the Board with full information regarding the director's business and other relationships with GAMCO and its affiliates and with senior management and their affiliates to enable the Board to evaluate the director's independence.

Directors have an affirmative obligation to inform the Board of any material changes in their circumstances or relationships that may impact their designation by the Board as "independent." This obligation includes all business relationships between, on the one hand, directors or members of their immediate family, and, on the other hand, GAMCO and its affiliates or members of senior management and their affiliates, whether or not such business relationships are subject to the approval requirement set forth in the following provision.

B-2